
 
 
Steve Atkinson MA(Oxon) MBA FloD FRSA 
Chief Executive 

 

 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk 
 

Date: 17 June 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Members of the Executive 
 
 Mr SL Bray (Chairman) 

Mr DC Bill MBE (Vice-Chairman) 
Mr DS Cope 
Mr WJ Crooks 
 

Mr DM Gould 
Mr KWP Lynch 
Mr MT Mullaney 
Ms BM Witherford 
 

 
Copy to all other Members of the Council 
 
(other recipients for information) 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
There will be a meeting of the EXECUTIVE in the De Montfort Suite, Hinckley Hub on 
WEDNESDAY, 25 JUNE 2014 at 6.30 pm and your attendance is required. 
 
The agenda for the meeting is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Helen Rishworth 
Communications & Democratic Accountability Officer 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR 

Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk 
 

EXECUTIVE -  25 JUNE 2014 
 

A G E N D A 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  

2. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 2) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 28 May 2014. 

3. ADDITIONAL URGENT BUSINESS BY REASON OF SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES  

 To be advised of any additional items of business which the Chairman decides by reason 
of special circumstances shall be taken as matters of urgency at this meeting. 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive verbally from Members any disclosures which they are required to make in 
accordance with the Council’s code of conduct or in pursuance of Section 106 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992.  This is in addition to the need for such disclosure to 
be also given when the relevant matter is reached on the agenda. 

5. QUESTIONS  

 To hear any questions in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10. 

6. CENTENARY FIELD DEDICATION - QUEENS PARK (Pages 3 - 8) 

 Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Community Direction). 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH COMMERCIAL SERVICES ENFORCEMENT SERVICE 
DELIVERY PLAN 2014/15 (Pages 9 - 52) 

 Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Community Direction). 

8. HINCKLEY & BOSWORTH VOLUNTARY & COMMUNITY SECTOR ARRANGEMENTS 
(Pages 53 - 70) 

 Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Community Direction). 

9. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY  

 (If any) 

10. ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES HAVE TO BE 
DEALT WITH AS MATTERS OF URGENCY  



 

-13 - 

HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

28 MAY 2014 AT 6.30 PM 
 
 
PRESENT: Mr SL Bray - Chairman 
Mr DS Cope, Mr DM Gould, Mr KWP Lynch, Mr MT Mullaney and Ms BM Witherford 
 
Members in attendance: Councillors Mr PR Batty, Mr JS Moore and Mr K Morrell 
 
Officers in attendance: Steve Atkinson, Rebecca Owen, Rob Parkinson, Ian Pinfold, 
Caroline Roffey and Shilpa Thakrar 
 

31 APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Bill and Crooks. 
 

32 MINUTES  
 
On the motion of Councillor Witherford, seconded by Councillor Cope, it was 
 

RESOLVED – the minutes of the meetings held on 26 March and 16 April 
2014 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 

 
33 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
No interests were declared at this stage. 
 

34 MEMORIAL SAFETY POLICY  
 
The Executive received the updated Memorial Safety Policy and was informed that since 
the original policy was introduced in 2009 there had been no complaints or adverse 
publicity. It was also reported that a lot of work had been undertaken to make memorials 
safe and this had resulted in a vast reduction in the number of memorials found unsafe 
each year. It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Gould and 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
(i) the updated Memorial Safety Policy be adopted; 
 
(ii) implementation of the policy be delegated to the Head of Street 

Scene Services. 
 

35 MALLORY PARK - NOISE CONTROL  
 
Members were updated on discussions held regarding Mallory Park race track since the 
meeting of the Executive on 16 April 2014 and were informed of the proposed Notices 
that may be applied for 2014 and 2015 and after. It was reported that meetings had been 
held with different groups of residents and with the track operators, RML, in order to find 
an acceptable solution for all parties. 
 
With reference to section 5.3a) in appendix A to the report, the Chief Executive clarified 
that only the phrase contained within the apostrophes was quoted by the Ombudsman, 
not the entire sentence. This had been queried by some who had read the report. 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



 

-14 - 

In response to a member’s question, it was explained that there were a variety of notices 
and other controls in place at other UK tracks, but that Mallory Park was a ‘special’ case 
as it was in such close proximity to the village 
 
Members were reminded that RML had only been in operation a few months and that 
they should be given the opportunity to put their own improvements in place which may 
further assist the situation, whilst working to the proposed Notice in 2014. To this end, it 
was proposed by Councillor Gould, seconded by Councillor Lynch, and agreed that 
recommendations b) and d) be amended to read: 
 

“b) agrees the proposed Notice for the remainder of this calendar year (2014) 
and that it be served in a timely manner to provide clarity around what 
noise levels are acceptable for this year, and to ensure that we are 
complicit with the recommendations provided by the Local Government 
Ombudsman; 

 
d) agrees the outline terms of a Notice for 2015 and after, including the 

requirement of an annual review before the end of each racing season, 
and that further discussion takes place with the purpose of it being 
finalised at our meeting on 17 September of this year.” 

 
It was noted that in discussing the Notice for 2015 and after in September, RML would 
have settled in and had the opportunity to put their own improvements in place and to 
build relationships with residents. Likewise, residents would have had the opportunity to 
establish whether RML were committed to maintaining the agreements. In relation to the 
noise assessment discussed on page 63 of the agenda, it was acknowledged that if not 
received by the end of May, action would be taken. 
 
On the motion of Councillor Gould, seconded by Councillor Lynch, it was 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
(i) the principles of a Statutory Notice as set out in section 4.4 of the 

report be endorsed; 
 
(ii) the proposed notice for the remainder of 2014, served in a timely 

manner to provide clarity around what noise levels are acceptable 
for this year and to ensure compliance with the recommendations 
of the Local Government Ombudsman, be agreed; 

 
(iii) the conditions and timescales to be met if a revised notice is 

issued for 2015 be agreed; 
 
(iv) the outline terms of a notice for 2015 and after, including the 

requirement of an annual review before the end of each racing 
season, be agreed and that further discussion take place with the 
purpose of it being finalised at our meeting on 17 September of 
this year; 

 
(v) the request for an additional payment to one of the complainants 

be refused. 
 
 

(The Meeting closed at 6.52 pm) 
 
 

 CHAIRMAN 

Page 2



 

- 1 - 

REPORT NO [Democratic Services will insert this] 
EXECUTIVE  – 25 JUNE 2014 
 
REPORT OF DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE (COMMUNITY SERVICES) 
RE: DEDICATION OF PART OF QUEENS PARK AS A CENTENARY FIELD 
 

WARDS AFFECTED: HINCKLEY 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

To request Executive agree to the dedication of part of Queens Park, Hinckley as 
a Centenary Field.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
 That Executive agree to the northern section  of Queens Park, Hinckley being 

dedicated as a Centenary Field.  
 
 That Executive delegate authority to the Leader of the Council and the Head of 

Street Scene Services to progress this dedication and make minor amendments 
to the boundary line should the need arise. 

 
3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT 
 
3.1 The Royal British Legion and Fields in Trust are leading a nationwide initiative to 

secure recreational spaces in perpetuity in memory of the millions of people who 
lost their lives in World War 1. Their objective is to commemorate a significant 
milestone in our shared history  and to create a tangible local legacy which will 
be valued by local communities for generations to come. This initiative is also in 
keeping with the spirit of the Armed Forces Community Covenant which HBBC 
have committed to.  Led by the Duke of Cambridge the challenge aims to protect 
2012 open spaces by 2012.  

 
3.2 Queens Park, Hinckley has been identified as the most appropriate site in 

HBBC’s ownership and management as this park was created before WW1 and 
as such provided a recreational space for those lost during WW1.  

 
3.3  The dedication protects the site from development in perpetuity as provides a 

legacy to mark the centenary of WW1.  
 
3.4 The indicative boundary of the dedication is shown on the attached plan.  
 
3.5 A plaque will be installed on the site to mark the dedication. 
   
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS (KP) 

The cost of applying for this dedication is £100 for land registry charges, costs to 
install the commemorative plaque and officer time. This can be met from existing 
budgets. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 3



 

- 2 - 

 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  (EH) 
 
 The dedication of the park will require the Council to enter into a deed to impose 

a restriction on the part so that the Council cannot sell or otherwise dispose of 
the land without the consent of Fields in Trust. The resulting restriction will be 
registered against the Council’s registered title to the Land with HM Land 
Registry. In the future, consent will be required from Fields in Trust for any 
change to the use of the park outside of the terms agreed in the Deed.  

 
The land identified is already bound by a restrictive covenant in the conveyance 
to the Council which states that it cannot be used for any purpose other than a 
public park. It is therefore considered that the land is no more restricted by the 
dedication. Members should note however that it would mean there are two 
restrictions to be removed from the land in the event the Council ever wished to 
sell or develop as anything other than open space.  

 
6. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS 
 

Protecting and improving our parks and open spaces are a corporate plan priority 
within the aim of creating vibrant places to work and live.  

 
7. CONSULTATION 
 
 No consultation has taken place about this proposal.  
 
8. RISK IMPLICATIONS 
 
 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 

may prevent delivery of business objectives. 
 
 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will 

remain which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based 
on the information available, that the significant risks associated with this 
decision / project have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to 
manage them effectively.  

 
9. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 This dedication will commemorate those who lost their lives in WW1, and 

demonstrates the Boroughs commitment to the Armed Forces Community 
Covenant. 

 
10. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:  

- Community Safety implications   
- Environmental implications   
- ICT implications   

Page 4



 

- 3 - 

- Asset Management implications  
- Human Resources implications  
- Planning Implications  
- Voluntary Sector  

 
 
 
 
Background papers: Indicative plan of Queens Park and area for dedication.   
 
Contact Officer:  Caroline Roffey 
 
Executive Member:  Cllr Bill Crooks 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1. Boundary for the Centenary Field dedication of Queens Park, Hinckley 

 (c) Crown copyright. All rights reserved Hinckley</st1:place>  Bosworth Borough Council LA100018489 Published 2014. 

±

Map Notes

Author:

1:2,500Scale

P
age 7



P
age 8

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

EXECUTIVE  – 25 JUNE 2014 
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH COMMERCIAL SERVICES 
ENFORCEMENT SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN 2014/15 
 
REPORT OF DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE (COMMUNITY 
DIRECTION)  
 

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL WARDS 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

To seek Executive approval of the Environmental Health Commercial 
Services Enforcement Service Delivery Plan for 2014/15 as required by the 
Food Standards Agency pursuant to the Food Standards Act 1999, and the 
Health & Safety Executive pursuant to the Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 
1974. 

 
Copies of the Plan have been placed in the Members Room, on the internet 
and intranet. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

i) That the Executive approve the Environmental Health Commercial Services 
Enforcement Service Delivery Plan 2014/15 (Appendix 1 to this report).  

 
ii) That the Executive note and endorse the achievements of the 

Environmental Health Commercial Service in 2013/14. 
 

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT 
 

The Food Standards Agency’s Framework Agreement with Local Authorities 
on food law enforcement activities requires Councils to produce an annual 
Food Service Delivery Plan, requiring approval by the appropriate member 
forum, which for this Authority is the Executive. 

 
 The Health & Safety Executive, as part of Local Authorities’ legal 

requirements under Section 18 of the Health & Safety at Work etc Act 1974, 
require Councils to produce an annual Health & Safety Service Delivery Plan. 

 
 Whilst each of the Central Government agencies prescribe the layout of the 

document required, several requirements are duplicated in both.  Hence the 
Food Safety Enforcement Delivery Plan and Health & Safety Service Delivery 
Plan have been incorporated into one document. 

 
 The Enforcement Service Delivery Plan expands upon the Service 

Improvement Plan already produced for the service.  It details all the tasks for 
the service, outlines the workload, the resources devoted to that work area 
and how the work will be undertaken.  A section is also included reviewing 
performance against the previous year’s service plan and sets out areas for 
improvement. 

 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 9



 

4.        ACHIEVEMENTS 
 
 Members may wish to note that in 2013/14:- 
 

� 693 interventions were carried out during the year, representing 87% of 
the target of 795 for the year.  

 
� 459 food, water and environmental samples were taken from food       

businesses, achieving in full the sampling programme. 

� 798 food premises in the borough are now listed on the national Food 
Hygiene Rating Scheme web site. 

� The service’s delivery of the implementation of Food Standards Agency 
guidance on controlling the risk of cross contamination from E.coli 
0157 has been audited and found “able to demonstrate that it is 
effectively implementing FSA guidance on controlling the risk of cross 
contamination”. 

� Conducted health and safety campaigns on legionella, beauty 
treatments, prevention of infections from animal farms, warehouse 
safety, slips trips and falls and within the residential care homes 
sector.  

 
�  Enabled 13 poorly hygiene rated food businesses to receive one to 

one coaching in order to improve their rating and thereby their 
business prospects and public protection 

 

�  Attracted £2,000 grant from the Food Standards Agency for 
implementation of United Kingdom Food Surveillance Scheme, a 
national database to enable greater intelligence for risk based 
sampling programmes.    

 
The Service targets for 2014/15 for food safety interventions will be 515 
inspections and 77 alternative interventions by self-assessment 
questionnaires for low risk food businesses resulting in 592 interventions. This 
will lead to a 100% intervention rate for all premises due an inspection in 
2014/15. 
 
For health and safety the Service will continue to adhere to guidance issued 
by central government to perform fewer proactive inspections on businesses 
but to target activity to campaigns at specific high risk activities and 
businesses. The service therefore in 2014/15 will carry out 3 inspections to ‘A’ 
(top risk rated) premises, carry out 135 alternative interventions by way of self 
assessment questionnaires to all medium rated businesses and carry out 135 
advisory visits to unrated new businesses, resulting in 273 interventions. In 
addition projects to target specific health and safety issues include: 
 
� Focused inspections on Legionella controls in 14 high risk premises 

found in 2013/14 not to respond to a survey or identified with significant 
gaps in controls 

� Conclude a 2 year project of residential care homes focusing 
inspections relating to legionella controls, scalding, falls, bedrails, 
moving and handling patients and violence at work. 

 

Page 10



 

� Conduct a health and safety campaign within the Tyre and Exhaust 
fitting Sector. 

  
During 2014/15 two key areas have also been identified for attention 
including: 

 
� Revise existing food and health and safety procedure notes. 
 
� Revise enforcement policies to ensure they reflect the Regulators 

Code 
 

 Should approval be given by the Executive for the plan, a copy will be posted 
on the Council’s website in order that businesses and residents are able to 
view the activities of the service. 

 
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [SJE] 

 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report as the 
activities set out in the plan can be completed within existing budgets. 
 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [EH] 
 

 Contained within the body of the report. 
 

6. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS 
 

Will help maintain and improve food safety and health and safety standards 
within the Borough and thereby contribute towards the Council aims of 
providing proactive services which will support individuals. 
  

7. CONSULTATION 
 

None, however Service Plan to be put on Council's website for comments. 
 

8. RISK IMPLICATIONS 
 
It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives. 
 
It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively. 
 
The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment: 
 

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks 

Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner 

Reputation with partners if do not 
work with them 

Ensure partnerships 
entered into and resourced 
effectively 

Steven 
Merry 

Reputation from negative press Ensure positive messages Steven 

Page 11



 

coverage of local campaigns emphasised in campaigns Merry 

Reputation from negative press 
coverage from enforcement 

Ensure enforcement 
carried out competently 
and proportionately and in 
accordance with 
Enforcement Policies 

Steven 
Merry 

Knowledge and skills of staff Ensure adequate training 
given to enforcement staff 

Steven 
Merry 

Adequate staff to deal with 
enquiries/enforcement activities 

Ensure appropriate staff 
resources available to deal 
with demands of service 

Steven 
Merry 

Legal compliance Ensure actions in 
compliance with Central 
Government Policy 

Steven 
Merry 

 
9. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS (RP) 

 

No implications as enforcement work in respect of food safety and health and 
safety is carried out consistently on the basis of a risk based inspection 
regime for all premises across the whole Borough. Literature is provided to 
those with “English not as a first language” to assist understanding and 
compliance with legislation. Training has also been provided in a relevant 
language again to aid understanding and compliance. 
 

10. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account: 
 

- Community Safety implications 
- Environmental implications 
- ICT implications 
- Asset Management implications 
- Human Resources implications 
- Planning Implications 
- Voluntary Sector 

 
 
 

Background papers: Food Standards Agency’s Framework Agreement with Local 
Authorities. 

 
HSE - National Local Authority Enforcement Code  

    
Section 18, Health & Safety Executive Guidance to Local                  
Authorities 

 

Contact Officer:  Steven Merry, ext 5735 
  

Executive Member:  Councilor Mr. D. Gould 

Page 12



 
           
 Page 1 of 39          

 

Appendix 1 

 
 

 
 
 
 

DOCUMENT No 1 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH COMMERCIAL 

SERVICES 

 

ENFORCEMENT 

SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN 

2014 / 2015 
 

 

May 2014 
 

Page 13



 
           
 Page 2 of 39          

 

CONTENTS 
   
       Page 

Numbers 
 
 
 Glossary 4 
 
 
1.   Introduction 5 
 
 
2.   Equal Opportunities Statement 5 
 
 
3.   Service Aims and Objectives  

 
3.1 The Corporate Planning Framework 6 
3.2 Sustainable Community Strategy - Leicestershire 6 

 3.3 The Community Plan – Hinckley and Bosworth  6 
 3.4 Vision and Values 7 
 3.5 The Corporate Plan  7 
 3.6 Service Improvement Plans 7 
 3.7 Environmental Health’s Objectives 7 
 3.8 Links to Strategic Aims 8 
 3.9 Best Value and Continuous Improvement 8 
 
 
4.   Background 

 
4.1 Profile 9 
4.2 Organisational Structure 9 

 
 
5.   Food Safety Enforcement Service Delivery Plan 2014/15  
  
 5.1 Scope of the Food Safety Service 12 

5.2 Demands on Food Safety Service (as at 1 April 2014) 12 
 5.3 Enforcement Policy 13 
 5.4 Service Delivery 14 
 5.4.1 Intervention Programme 14 
 5.4.2 Food Complaints 16 
 5.4.3 Home Authority and Primary Authority Principle 16 

5.4.4 Advice to Businesses 16 
5.4.5 Food Sampling and Inspection 17 
5.4.6 Water Sampling 17 
5.4.7 Imported Foods 18 
5.4.8 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Diseases 18 
5.4.9 Food Safety Incidents 18 
5.5 Liaison 18 
5.6 Food Hygiene Promotion 19 
5.6.1 Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 19 
5.6.2 Food Safety Management Systems 19 
5.6.3 Food Safety Week 19 
5.6.4 E.coli 0157  20 
5.6.5 Food Hygiene Coaching 20 
5.6.6 Further Promotional Work 20 

 

Page 14



 
           
 Page 3 of 39          

 

 
 
6.   Health and Safety Enforcement Service Delivery Plan 2014/15 
  
 6. 1 Description of Service 21
 6. 2 Aim of Health and Safety Enforcement Service 21 
 6. 3 Priorities of Health and Safety Enforcement Service 21 
 6. 4 Delivery of the Health and Safety service priorities 2013/14 22 
 6.4.1  Legionella Project 22 
 6.4.2 Beauty Sector Project 22 
 6.4.3 E.coli / Cryptosporidium Infection 23 
 6.4.4 Residential Care Homes 23 
 6.4.5  Slips and Trips Initiative 24 
 6.4.6 Warehouse Initiative 24 
 6.5 Delivery of the Health and Safety service priorities 2014/15 24 
 6.5.1 Health and Safety Planned Inspections 25 
 6.5.2 Revisits 26 
 6.5.3 Accident Investigation 26 
 6.5.4 Service Requests 26 
 6.5.5 Intervention Plan 2014/15 27 
 6.5.6 Delivery Mechanisms 28 

6.6 Performance Indicators 29 
 6.7 Provision of Information 29 

6.8 Health and Safety Enforcement Policy 30 
6.9 Improved Contact with Employee Representative 30 

 6.10 Smoke Free Legislation                                                                                    30 
 

 
7.   Resources 

 
7.1 Financial Allocation 31 
7.2 Staff Allocation 31 
7.3 Staff Development Plan 31 

 
 
8.   Quality Assessment 

 
8.1 Quality Assessment 33 
8.2 Better Business for All 34 

 
 
9.   Review    

 
9.1 Review 37 
9.2 Identification of variance from the Service Plan 2013/14 37 
9.2.1 Interventions                                                                                                      37 
9.2.2 Courses and Campaigns 38 
9.2.3 Service Requests 39 
9.2.4 Sampling 39 
9.2.5 Infectious Diseases 39 
9.2.6 Areas of Improvement 2013/14 39 
9.3 Areas of Improvement 2014/15 39 

 
 
 
 

Page 15



 
           
 Page 4 of 39          

 

GLOSSARY 
 
 
 
 

Idox  - Idox Plc - Data Software Supplies to Environmental Health  
 
BRDO             -           Better Regulation Delivery Office  
 
CIEH - Chartered Institute of Environmental Health 
 
COSHH - Control of Substances Hazardous to Health 
 
DIY - Do-It-Yourself 
 
FTE - Full time equivalent 
 
FSA - Food Standards Agency 
 
HELA - Health and Safety Executive/Local Authority Enforcement Liaison 

Committee 
 
HSE - Health and Safety Executive 
 
HSG - Health and Safety Guidance 
 
IAA - Inter Authority Audit 
 
LAC - Local Authority Circular 
 
LAE1 - Local Authority Enforcement Annual Report Form to Health and Safety 

Executive 
 
LAEMS - Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System 
 
LSP                 -        Local Strategic Partnership 
 
PDA              - Personal Development Appraisal 
 
RIDDOR - Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 

2013  
 
WRMSD - Work Related Musculoskeletal Disorders 

Page 16



 
           
 Page 5 of 39          

 

 
1.  Introduction 

 
This Service Delivery Plan outlines how Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council, through its 
Environmental Health Services, intends to fulfil its statutory obligations to enforce food safety and 
health and safety legislation.   
 
The plan brings together into one document a service plan for food safety enforcement and 
health and safety enforcement.   
 
The formats of the Enforcement Service Delivery Plans are prescribed by each of the Central 
Government Agencies responsible for Policy in these areas.  For food safety the Food Standards 
Agency prescribe the contents of a Service Delivery Plan in their “Framework Agreement on 
Local Authority Food Law Enforcement”, the Health and Safety Executives’ is prescribed in 
Section 18 Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 Mandatory Guidance.  Due to these 
Agencies’ differing prescription, the layout of this document is occasionally inconsistent however 
the essential information is conveyed as required by them.   

 
 

2.  Equal Opportunities Statement 
 
This service plan and its delivery shall take into account the aims of Hinckley and Bosworth 
Borough Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy which is committed to achieving equality for all by 
removing direct and indirect discrimination on the grounds of: 
 

• Age 

• Gender or transgender identity 

• Race, colour, nationality, national or ethnic origin, being a traveller or gypsy 

• Disability, including people with a hearing impairment, people with a visual impairment, 
people with learning disability, people with a mental illness, and people living with HIV 
and AIDS 

• Religious belief or non-belief, or other beliefs 

• Marital status, family circumstances, or caring responsibilities 

• Sexual orientation 

• Income, employment status or housing circumstances 

• Membership or non-membership of trade unions, or involvement in trade union activity 

• Offending Status 

• Any other ground that cannot be shown to be justified 
 
 

Page 17



 
           
 Page 6 of 39          

 

3.  Service Aims and Objectives 
 

3.1 The Corporate Planning Framework 
 
 Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council recognises it has to balance what it can do 

against the resources at its disposal in order to achieve good quality and good value.  
Therefore the Council has to focus its activities and resources on priority areas.  In 
choosing its activity areas the Council uses different plans and strategies at all levels of 
the organisation.  The framework for these plans and strategies is represented by the 
diagram set out below; a simple explanation is given to each element. 

 
 
3.2   Sustainable Community Strategy - Leicestershire 

The Leicestershire Sustainable Community Strategy 2008 is overseen by Leicestershire 
Together, representing all of the organisations and partnerships that deliver services in 
Leicestershire.  The document sets out how to improve the quality of life and public 
services in Leicestershire, proposing priorities for improvement over five years.  This 
strategy was refreshed during 2011/12, and sets out four overarching priorities, setting 
what the County level Commissioning Boards and cross cutting partnerships will be doing 
to achieve these strategic priorities.  The outcome framework will be refreshed on an 

annual basis in order to ensure that it reflects the current pace of change. 

 
3.3 The Community Plan – Hinckley and Bosworth 
 
 The Hinckley and Bosworth draft Community Plan 2014 - 2018 is a document setting out 

the key longer term challenges facing the Borough, and details priorities and 
arrangements for tackling them, its aim is to enhance the quality of life for the residents of 
the Borough through joint working.  The Community Plan is overseen by the Hinckley and 
Bosworth Local Strategic Partnership (LSP), which brings together all of the key public 
sector organisations providing local services including the private sector, the voluntary 
and community sector, and local communities themselves, to enable more effective joint 

Page 18



 
           
 Page 7 of 39          

 

working and bringing together of resources.  The LSP is supported by a range of key 
delivery partnerships/groups who deliver on the priorities within the Community Plan, and 
report regularly to LSP on progress. 

  
3.4. Vision and Values 

 
The Councils overall vision is to create ‘A Borough to be proud of’; in achieving this, the 
authority works with a number of underpinning values:  
 

� To continuously strive to improve 
� To be customer focused by listening, caring and being respectful  
� Deliver what we can and be clear about what we can't  
� Be ambitious and maximise opportunities 
� Equality and fair treatment for all  
� To be a confident and capable council  

 
3.5. The Corporate Plan 
 

The Corporate Plan 2013 – 2016, sets out the aims and underpinning priorities through 
which the Council’s overall vision will be achieved, enabling everyone to know what the 
Council will be focusing on to improve the quality of life for residents of the Borough 
  

 Aims: 
o Creating a vibrant place to work and live 
o Empowering communities 
o Supporting individuals 
o Providing value for money and pro active services 

 
3.6 Service Improvement Plans 
 
 Service Improvement Plans set out how each service area in the Council contributes to 

the achievement of the aims set out in the Corporate Plan.  They set out a series of 
actions with progress monitored against these actions throughout the year.    

 
3.7 Environmental Health’s Objectives 
 

 In working towards achieving the Council's Vision the Environmental Health Services has 
the objectives of:- 

 
a) Ensuring the food and drink intended for human consumption, which is produced, 

stored, distributed, handled or consumed within the borough is without risks to 
health and safety of the consumer and satisfies the requirements of the Food 
Safety Legislation.   

 
b) Identifying and investigating where necessary all infectious diseases and food 

poisoning to prevent the spread, where possible, of such infections in the 
community.   

 
c) Carrying out the necessary inspections to enable us to licence or register the 

various premises for which we are responsible and to ensure that they comply 
with all legal requirements for which we are the enforcing authority.   

 
d) Securing the workplace health, safety and welfare for both employees and the 

public in the Borough.   
 
e) Disseminating information to the public and commercial organisations in the 

district to promote a healthier life style.   
 

Page 19



 
           
 Page 8 of 39          

 

 Within Environmental Health Services, these objectives are the responsibility of officers 
employed in the Commercial Section.  This Plan sets out how the Commercial Section 
intends to work towards achieving the objectives in 2014/15, through education, training 
and enforcement.   

 
3.8 Links to Strategic Aims 
 

 This Service Plan supports the Community Plan, Corporate Plan and the Council's Vision 
and values by setting out in detail the actions the Council intends to take, in relation to 
food safety and health and safety.   

 
 This Plan also expands the Service Improvement Plan for the Commercial Section, 

already approved by Council.  It includes clear objectives together with key tasks, targets 
and performance indicators against which progress can be measured in delivering the 
food safety and health and safety service.   

 
 The Council has been awarded the Investors in People accreditation and is well aware of 

the importance of involving staff, at all levels in the organisation, as part of Performance 
Management.  Staff involved in the plans implementation have been consulted on its 
contents.   

 
 The Service Plan and supporting budgets form the basis of the Council's work 

programme on food safety and health and safety for the year.   
 
3.9 Best Value and Continuous Improvement 
 

 The Council is committed to continually improving its services to the public.  A number of 
improvement techniques within its Performance Management Framework are used to 
keep its services under review to ensure they reflect the right balance between quality 
and cost, and also that they show continuous improvement.  The Commercial Section is 
committed to strive continually to improve service delivery in accordance with the 
principles of best value.   

 

 Within the framework of Best Value the Council has provided extensive training to staff on 
the principles of Continuous Improvement.  The Commercial Section has used this 
concept and the advice given within the Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food 
Law Enforcement and Health and Safety Executive’s Section 18 Guidance to look at the 
ways our work is carried out.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
           
 Page 9 of 39          

 

4.  Background 
 
4.1 Profile 
 
 The Borough of Hinckley and Bosworth is situated in the south west of Leicestershire, 

covering an area of 300 square kilometres. The 2011 census showed the population of 
the borough to be 105,000 occupying some 46,909 homes. The population is 
overwhelmingly white British (94.6%) with the largest group from the ethnic population 
(5.2%) being Indian Asians 1.3%. Almost 90% of the Borough is rural and 60% of the 
working population are employed within the manufacturing and hospitality industries.   

 
 Hinckley is the main administrative centre of the Borough and holds regular markets 

(including a Farmers Market).  Market Bosworth is a small historic market town which 
contains a large number of popular tourist attractions and hosts a street market every 
Wednesday.  Other major centres in the Borough include Barwell, Burbage and Earl 
Shilton.  In addition there are 20 other parishes which contain villages and hamlets of 
different size and character.   

 
 The Council is part of a two tier arrangement for local government in Leicestershire.  

Food Standards and Animal Feeding Stuffs enforcement is therefore the responsibility of 
Leicestershire County Council’s Regulatory Services Department.   

 
 The Council is also part of the national two tier arrangement for enforcement of health 

and safety legislation along with the Health and Safety Executive.  Health and Safety 
enforcement in factories, construction sites and utilities is administered by the Health and 
Safety Executive from their Northampton offices (Telephone 01604 738300).   

 
4.2 Organisational Structure  
 
 The Council consists of 34 Councillors serving 24 parishes.  The Council operates a 

Cabinet style structure, called The Executive.  The Executive consists of 8 Councillors, 
each with an executive portfolio, one of which includes the Executive Member for 
Environment, Health and Climate Change.  This member is responsible for ensuring the 
Environmental Health Service achieves the objectives and delivers the service demanded 
by the Council.   

 
 Officers headed by the Chief Executive carry out strategic and operational management 

of the Council Services.  The Chief Executive and two Deputy Chief Executives form the 
Strategic Leadership Board, responsible for the strategic management, whilst 4 Chief 
Officers form the Corporate Operations Board, responsible for operational management 
of council services.  The figure below shows the organisational structure for the delivery 
of council services: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 
           
 Page 10 of 39          

 

 

Chief Executive 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Community Direction) 

Deputy Chief Executive 
(Corporate Direction) 

 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 B
o
a
rd
 

Chief Officer 
(Housing, 
Community 
Safety & 

Partnerships) 

Chief Officer  
(Environmental 

Health) 

 

Chief Officer 
(Finance, Resources 
& Housing Repairs) 

Chief Officer 
(Corporate 

Governance & 
Customer 

Engagement) 

 

 
 

OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE OF COUNCIL SERVICES 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
  

 
 The Deputy Chief Executive (Community Direction) is responsible for the Environmental 

Health Services, which includes the Commercial Section that deals with Food Safety and 
Health and Safety Enforcement.   

 
 The Commercial Section of Environmental Health Services structure is described below: 

 
 

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE (COMMUNITY DIRECTION) 
  
 
 

CHIEF OFFICER (ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH) 
 
 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH MANAGER (COMMERCIAL) 
   
                          
 
   Shared Administrative         3 (FTE) x Environmental Health      1 (FTE) x Technical  

   Section                                         Officers (EHO’s)                         Officers (TO’S) 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

Page 22



 
           
 Page 11 of 39          

 

Contact telephone numbers for the various people involved are shown in the table below: 
 

 Name Telephone 
number 

Executive Member for Environment, Health  
and Climate Change 

Mr David Gould 01455 844300  

Chief Executive Mr Steven Atkinson 01455 255606 

Deputy Chief Executive (Community Direction)  Mr Bill Cullen 01455 255700 

Chief Officer (Environmental Health) Mr.  Robert Parkinson 01455 255641 

Environmental Health Manager (Commercial) Mr Steven Merry 01455 255735 

Lead Officer – Food Hygiene & Health & Safety Mr Steven Merry 01455 255735 

 
 Specialist food safety services, i.e. a Food Analyst, and Examiner, are not employed directly 
   by the Council.  Staffordshire County Council’s Public Analyst and Public Health England, 
 through the Good Hope Hospital, Heart of England NHS Foundation Trust, Birmingham, 
 provide these services respectively.  Equally the services of Staffordshire County Council’s 
 Public Analyst are used for analysis of samples of a health and safety nature and specialist 
 services for health and safety may be called upon from the Health and Safety Executive.   

 

Page 23



 
           
 Page 12 of 39          

 

5.  Food Safety Enforcement Service Delivery Plan 2014/2015 

 
5.1 Scope of the Food Safety Service 
 
 Food safety enforcement is part of the service provided by the Commercial Section of 

Environmental Health Services.   Besides food safety, the Section is also responsible for 
delivering the Council’s obligations in relation to Occupational Health and Safety, 
Infectious Diseases, Health Improvement, Animal Welfare and Licensing.  These 
activities in general are seen as complementary to food safety as they give a fuller picture 
of premises standards and therefore combined enforcement benefits both consumers and 
businesses alike.   

 
 Food safety activities mainly revolve around inspection of commercial food 

establishments in the borough, but are complemented by a food sampling programme, 
investigation of food complaints and food poisoning incidents, and health promotional 

activities including the delivery of food hygiene talks, seminars and courses.   
 
 The Commercial section is managed by the Environmental Health Manager (Commercial) 

who also has lead responsibility for food matters.  Apart from this post as at 1 April 2014 
there are 4 other Environmental Health Officers, (representing 3 Full Time Equivalents) 
who undertake the full range of duties of the Commercial section.  There is 1 Technical 
Officer who also carries out all the duties of the section but is only allowed, because of his 
qualification to inspect food premises in groups C-E (see below).  In August 2013 the part 
time Systems Administrator resigned her post. Following a review of the position it was 
decided to delete the post from the establishment and for support to the service on the 
Idox computer system be given by a member of the ICT service. To date this 
arrangement has been working satisfactorily. 

 
5.2 Demands on Food Safety Service (as at 1st April 2014) 
 
 In the borough there are 951 premises subject to food hygiene inspection in the following 

risk categories: 

 

 
Risk Category Number of Premises 

A 2 

B 46 

C 331 

D 279 

E 265 

Unrated 28 

Total 951 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 
           
 Page 13 of 39          

 

 
 

 The Borough has 2 approved Dairy Products premises one manufacturing Cheese the 
other Ice Cream. Additionally there is 1 premise processing chicken which was granted 
Full Approval in October 2013. These premises receive inspections from Officers who 
have had specialist training in these fields.  There are also 3 premises approved under 
European legislation as being Egg Grading establishments and one premises which 
produces Indian cooking sauces, pastes, pickles and chutneys which are exported 
internationally. No other specialist or complex food processing is carried out in the 
borough.   

 
  Staff and facilities are located on the 1st Floor at The Hinckley Hub, which is located 

within Rugby Road, Hinckley.   All personal callers are received at reception located on 
the ground floor, Monday to Thursday from 8:30 hrs to 17:00 hrs and on Friday’s 8:30 hrs 
to 16: 30 hrs.   

 
 The service can also be accessed via an out of office hours number, which is used for all 

emergency environmental health issues, 01455 251137.  A website, www.hinckley-
bosworth.gov.uk is used to "post" information about the services that the Team provides 
for consumers and business and also provides a direct e-mail address for service 
requests, esadmin@hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk .   Access can also be made through a 
community portal, www.hinckleyandbosworthonline.org.uk.  

 
5.3 Enforcement Policy 
  
 On the 6 April 2014 a revised Regulators Code came into force. Through the Regulatory 

Partnership set up under the Leicester Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership, the service 
is working up its revision to its documented general and Food Safety Enforcement 
Policies adopted by the Council in January 2002 and revised versions in 2008 and 2011, 
to ensure the Council meets the statutory requirements of the new code. Once completed 
revised general and Food Safety enforcement policies will be put before the Executive of 
the Council for approval in 2014.  

 
  The current policies set out what food business and others being regulated can expect 

from officers and the Council and based on the principles of good enforcement, contained 
in the Regulators Compliance Code of 2008. These policies were formulated at the 
County Food Liaison Group to help ensure consistency of approach across 
Leicestershire.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 
           
 Page 14 of 39          

 

5.4 Service Delivery 
 
 5.4.1  Intervention Programme 
 
  All food premises receiving a food hygiene intervention will be risk rated following the 

intervention.  The rating scheme used by Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council is that 
set out in Annex 5 to the Food Law Code of Practice (England) (April 2014), produced by 
the Food Standards Agency.  This means that all premises will receive an intervention 
within a range of 6 months to 3 years, depending upon the risk associated with the 
premises.   

 
  The current premises profile with respect to risk rating is shown below with the category of    

premises due in 2014/15 shown in column 6.   
 

 
Cate-
gory 

 
Minimum Frequency 
of Intervention 

 
No.  

Premises 

 
Interventions 
due 2014/15 

 
Interventions 
Carried over 
from 2013/14 

 
Total No.  

Interventions 
required in 
2014/15 

 
A 
 
 
B 
 
 
C 
 
 
D 
 
 
E 

 
 

 
at least every 6 
months 
 
at least every year 
 
 
at least every 18 
months 
 
at least every 2 years 
 
 
at least every 3 years 
 
 
Unrated 
 

 
2 
 
 
46 
 
 

331 
 
 

279 
 
 

265 
 
 
28 

 
2 
 
 
43 
 
 

169 
 
 

127 
 
 
77 
 
 
37 
 

 
0 
 
 
3 
 
 
63 
 
 
41 
 
 
30 
 
 
0 

 
2 
 
 
46 
 
 

232 
 
 

168 
 
 

107 
 
 
37 

 
 
 951 376 137 592 

 
 

  Since a reorganisation in 2009, 2.3 full time equivalent officers are presently engaged in 
food hygiene enforcement.  

 
  The issue of local authorities having insufficient resources to undertake their food safety 

inspections is known by the Food Standards Agency and consequently the Agency do 
allow local authorities to use other means of assessing the lowest risk rated premises   
compliance with food safety legislation other than by inspection. Therefore four years 
ago this Council introduced self assessment questionnaires for lower risk rated   
businesses.  

  
 In order to manage the inspections in 2014/15 emphasis will be placed on ensuring that 
all high risk rated food premises (Category A – C) and unrated premises (ie prospective 
new businesses or new registrations) will be inspected, along with Category D premises. 
In addition, those lower risk premises that have not returned a self-assessment 
questionnaire in 2013/14 (30 premises) will also be targeted for inspection. Therefore the 
total inspection target for 2014/15 is 515.  Category E premises due in the 2014/15 will 
be dealt with, by way of self-assessment questionnaires.  
 

Page 26



 
           
 Page 15 of 39          

 

 The target therefore for food safety in 2014/15 is 592 interventions, resulting from 515 
inspections and 77 self-assessment questionnaires. This will mean that 100% of all 
premises due an intervention will receive an intervention in 2014/15.   
 
 It is estimated that each inspection of a Category A-C and unrated food premises takes 4 
hours to complete, whilst Category D and E take on average 3 hours, whilst a 
questionnaire takes approximately 0. 5 hour to administer.  1,900 hours will therefore be 
required to complete the food hygiene inspection programme. These resources do not 
include support officer and management time or the resources required for revisits.   
 
  The number of revisits required following a programmed inspection is dependant on the 
level of compliance found and the action taken by the officer.  Re-visits to premises 
following a programmed inspection will be made where significant contraventions of food 
hygiene or processing regulations and / or poor hygiene practices are found. In addition 
revisits due to proprietors requesting a revisit to improve their Food Hygiene Rating (see 
5.6),will also be undertaken, last year  13 requests were received for this service, similar 
to the 12 received in 2012/13. In addition 41 revisits to check on progress of remedial 
works following an inspection were also undertaken, equating to 54 revisits in total being 
undertaken in 2013/14. It is likely that approximately 60 revisits will be required this year, 
at approximately 1.5 hours per re-visit, including any follow up administration, this will 
require approximately 90 hours of the Section’s time.   
 
 In addition, other visits will be made to food premises; for instance to follow up poor 
sampling results, complaint investigations, special surveys etc.   
 
 The activities of the Section relating to Food Hygiene and Safety will be affected by the 
reactive workload as it arises and this may mean an adjustment to the routine inspection 
and sampling programmes in order to devote increased resources to higher priority 
areas of work.   
 
 No targeted inspection activity is envisaged in 2014/15 unless requested by the Food 
Standards Agency.  Equally no priorities relating to nationally or locally driven issues are 
expected or known of for that period.  
  
 In previous years a measure of the Councils performance with respect to Food Hygiene 
has been through a National Performance Indicator NI 184, `The number of Broadly 
Compliant Food Premises` .The service has seen a substantial rise in the borough of 
Broadly Compliant premises from 78% in April 2010 to 90% in March 2013. This 
significant increase in the overall standards of food hygiene in the Boroughs food 
premises has been bought about with a combination of Officers promoting Safer Food 
Better Business and the Councils introduction of its hygiene rating schemes. Whilst, the 
advent of the new Coalition Government has meant that this performance indicator is no 
longer required to be reported to national government, it is seen by the Food Standards 
Agency as a useful measurement as to the continuing performance of local authorities 
and also to this Council as to a useful guide as to the overall indicator of food hygiene 
levels in businesses in the Borough. As such it is intended to continually monitor this 
indicator with the aim of improving further the number of food businesses in the Borough 
who are broadly compliant with legislation. Clearly though as the indicator approaches its 
maximum value it will be harder to continue to achieve further improvement and 
consequently this year saw a slight fall in broadly compliant premises to 89% as at 31st 
March 2014, below our target of 92%.One of the factors in this slight fall is a number of 
new businesses which have yet to commence trading or waiting a rating. This year 
therefore a target for March 2015 has therefore been set at 90%. 
 
In order to help achieve a level of 90% of food businesses in the borough being broadly 
compliant, this year Officers will continue to make use of the interventions allowed by the 
Food Standards Agency for those businesses which have a high level of compliance and 
thereby using released resource to increase attention on non compliant businesses. 

Page 27



 
           
 Page 16 of 39          

 

Therefore all food businesses rated 5 in the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (see 5.6) at 
their last inspection may be subjected to only a sampling and verification visit or partial 
inspection to establish that conditions found on the last inspection remain. A full 
inspection will be made at their next programmed inspection date.    
 
 In line with the Council’s food safety training policy which implements in full the Food 
Standards Agency’s Code of Practice in respect of the qualifications and experience of 
Authorised Officers, all officers in the Section are appropriately qualified and trained, and 
where necessary supervised, to carry out their respective duties in relation to food safety 
inspections.   
 

 5.4.2  Food Complaints 
 

 Complaints about food will be dealt with in accordance with procedures for the handling 
of complaints and enquiries to the service.  In addition account will be taken of the 
requirements of Food Law Code of Practice (England) in respect of complaints which 
may be more appropriately dealt with by the County Council.   
 

 In 2013/2014 the Service received 23 complaints about defective food and 74 other 
complaints and requests for advice concerning premises or practices. 35 of the service 
requests related to enquiries from prospective businesses for advice. In 2014/15 it is 
anticipated that there will be, in total, approximately 100 complaints and enquiries to be 
dealt with by the Service.  1000 officer hours have been allocated to this area of work.   
 

 Any foods requiring analysis will generally be forwarded to the Public Analyst at Stafford 
and occasionally the Leicester Museum is used for identification of insects.   
 

 5.4.3  Home Authority and Primary Authority Principle 
 

 The Council and the service support and adheres to  the principles of Home and Primary 
Authority and has in place documented procedures to ensure that staff comply with it 
when enforcing food hygiene legislation, for example when investigating a food 
complaint in respect of food manufactured outside of the Borough.   
 

 The service has no formal Home Authority relationship with any businesses in the 
Borough.   
 

 From the 6 April 2009 the Primary Authority scheme under guidance from the Local 
Better Regulation Office (LBRO), now known as Better Regulation Delivery Office 
(BRDO) came into effect. Revised in 2013/14, this scheme is similar to the Home 
Authority principles but places a legal duty upon Local Authorities to consult with a 
Primary Authority (a Local Authority which has a formal arrangements with a business to 
offer guidance on a companies policies and procedures) where they are considering 
taking formal enforcement action against a business with such an arrangement.  The 
service adheres to the Primary Authority scheme but has no relationships with any 
business in the borough.   
 

 5.4.4  Advice to Business 
 

 The provision of advice to food businesses on food hygiene is an important part of the 
Team’s documented enforcement policy and represents the first option when dealing 
with minor contraventions.  Proactive advice is provided to businesses on a routine 
basis during inspections.   
 

    During the year it is also anticipated that a number of telephone calls for advice by 
businesses will be made and responded to.  

 

Page 28



 
           
 Page 17 of 39          

 

   Since 2009 a food safety newsletter was produced for all food business registered in 
the Borough. To save on publishing and postal costs our practise the past few years 
has been to send each registered Food Business a mail shot indicating the existence of 
the newsletter on the Councils website. However in 2012/13 this method indicated that 
only 55 hits were made to the newsletter pages. Last year, in an attempt to increase 
uptake, we promoted the newsletter through the council’s social media networks on 
Twitter, Facebook etc. but again the letter only received 63 hits. This year therefore it 
has been decided in view of the poor hit rate not to produce a newsletter but move to 
sending targeted information to specific food industry sectors. In 2013 a letter was sent 
to all restaurants and caterers informing them of the proposed requirements in the Food 
Information Regulations due to come into force in December 2014. Then in January 
2014 a letter was sent to all Nursing and Residential Care Homes issuing advice on the 
prevention of Listeria infection.  

  
2013/14 also saw the service deliver 3 food hygiene courses for food handlers using 
the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health Level 2 Award in Food Safety in 
Catering. All the candidates passed the examination at the end.  
 
 

 5.4.5  Food Sampling and Inspection 
 

 The Service has in place a documented food hygiene sampling policy, procedure and 
programme which has been developed with the help of the food examiners from Public 
Health England at the Good Hope Hospital, Birmingham, where the samples are taken 
for examination, and the County Food Liaison Group.  In order to achieve the 
programme 259 food samples and 176 environmental samples were taken during 
2013/2014.   

 
 Through Public Health England’s regional laboratory at Good Hope Hospital, 

Birmingham, Local Authorities are able to submit an allocation of samples to be 
analysed free of charge.  During 2014/2015 it is anticipated that 270 food samples will 
be submitted for analysis.  A resource of 135 officer hours has been allocated to this 
area of work.   

 
 The United Kingdom Food Surveillance System (UKFSS) is a national database that 

centrally holds a record of all food and feed samples taken by Local Authorities and 
Port Health Authorities. It enables greater intelligence on risk based sampling 
programmes at local and national levels enabling targeting of resources and thereby 
improved public protection. Historically the system has been used by Trading 
Standards in their work on compositional standards of food and animal feedstuffs, but 
now is expanding to record bacteriological results from sampled foods. To encourage 
local authorities to join the system, grants have been offered from the Food Standards 
Agency for which an application was made by this Council in February 2014. In March 
2014 we were informed that the Council had been granted £2000 which has been used 
to download and install the necessary software, configure our ICT systems to 
communicate with UKFSS and to purchase a new lap top. This allows officers to 
complete sampling forms in the field and transmit them electronically, saving officer 
time in completing paperwork, printing and duplications in data entries, as well as 
enabling us to interrogate the system to better inform our sampling programmes in 
future years.          

 
 
 5.4.6  Water Sampling 
 

  A programme of water samples is undertaken from large food businesses within the 
district.  In 2013/14, two businesses were sampled on a regular basis resulting in 24 
samples being taken for bacteriological quality over the year. 

 

Page 29



 
           
 Page 18 of 39          

 

  In 2014/15 it is anticipated that 12 samples will be taken, 24 officer hours have been 
allocated to this area of work.   

 
 
 5.4.7  Imported Foods 
 

 Although we do not have any inland ports we do have one premise that imports food 
from other countries for ingredients in its sauces that it produces.  Whilst inspecting 
food premises checks are occasionally carried out to ensure that there is no illegal 
imported food used within the premises.  If any are found then they will be dealt with in 
accordance with legal procedures.   

  
            5.4.8 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious 

Diseases 
 

 All formal and informal notifications of food poisoning and food borne illness, except 
Campylobacter, are investigated within 2 days of receipt in accordance with the 
appropriate policy.  During 2013/2014, 102 notifications were received and of those 70 
were Campylobacter, 3 E.  coli, 9 Salmonella, 4 Cryptosporidia, 12 Giardia, 1 
Dysentery, 2 Hepatitis E and 1 Typhoid. Due to the isolated occurrences of 
Campylobacter and therefore difficulties in tracing sources, Campylobacter cases are 
not routinely investigated, however all other cases were investigated. Based on 
historic rates it is anticipated that a similar number, approximately 110 cases of food 
poisoning and food borne illness will be notified in 2014/2015, hence 110 officer hours 
have been allocated to the investigation of individual cases.     

 
            5.4.9 Food Safety Incidents 
 

 The service has a documented procedure which deals with the action to be taken 
following the receipt or initiation of Food Alerts.  The procedure complies with the 
requirements of the Food Law Code of Practice (England).  During 2013/14 there 
were 43 Food Alerts, 7 of these alerts required action from local authorities, however 
due to the nature of the food or its distribution no further action was required of 
officers from this council.  A similar number of alerts are expected in 2014/15.   

 
5.5      Liaison 
 

 The Commercial Section is represented on the Leicestershire CIEH Food Liaison Group    
which includes representatives from all food enforcement authorities across the County 
including Leicestershire County Council Trading Standards, Public Health England and 
the Public Food Examiner from Good Hope Hospital, Birmingham. 
 

 Infectious disease investigations and enforcement issues in 2013/14 were co-ordinated 
through the Leicestershire CIEH Food Liaison Group with a representative from Public 
Health England attending meetings. 

 
The Environmental Services Manager (Commercial) along with other representatives of 
the East Midlands Area attends a liaison meeting with Severn Trent Water Authority once 
per annum.   

 
 The section has internal liaison with all service areas within Hinckley and Bosworth 

Borough Council but especially the Planning Service as regards planning applications 
and the Licensing Service as regards matters which are being dealt with by the Licensing 
Committee set up to deal with Licensing legislation.   

 
 
 
 

Page 30



 
           
 Page 19 of 39          

 

5.6 Food Hygiene Promotion 
 
5.6.1    Food Hygiene Rating Scheme  
 
 Since January 2008 the Council has operated a food hygiene rating scheme for all 

catering businesses, and in 2010 commenced roll out of a national Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme operated by the Food Standards Agency. When inspected food businesses are 
scored against a set of criteria for hygiene compliance, structural compliance and food 
safety management/control systems. The subsequent rated results are then posted on a 
website to provide members of the public details of the premises’ hygiene rating at the 
last inspection.  Each business is also supplied with a certificate displaying their rating 
which they were encouraged (but not legally required to do) to display either on the 
entrance door to the premises or adjacent windows.   

 
During 2013/14 the service continued to embed the scheme and expand the sectors of 
food businesses that are now included in the national scheme. At the beginning of April 
2014, the hygiene rating of 798 food premises in the Borough are now available at 
www.food.gov.uk/ratings.   
  

5.6.2    Food Safety Management Systems 
 

   During inspections of food premises Officers establish if there is in place a documented 
Food Safety Management System, in effect documented procedures and checks to 
ensure that the food safety risks in the business have been assessed and are being 
controlled.  A national model called `Safer Food, Better Business` has been developed by 
the Food Standards Agency and is promoted to food business proprietors in the Borough 
should they not have an alternative system in place during inspections, seminars, 
newsletters etc.   

 
5.6.3 Food Safety Week 
 

Food Safety Week, 10 to 16 June 2013, had the theme of ‘Kitchen Check’ with the 
campaigns aim to highlight that the food that is cooked in home kitchens can be a source 
of food poisoning. 

 
Eight presentations and discussions were held at local community centres, church 
groups, at 1 charity and 1 Sure Start Centre within the borough, with the people who took 
part covering a wide range of age groups from 11 days to 58 years of age, of both male 
and females. The presentation and discussions covered the 4 C’s of food hygiene 
Cleaning, Cross Contamination, Chilling and Cooking as well as the difference between 
Use by and Best Before dates and how to deal with leftovers. 

 
A quiz sheet was used to evaluate the presentation and discussion and to determine the 
Food Hygiene Rating for people’s kitchens within the group. 

 
Six questions were provided on the quiz which provided a food hygiene rating of 0, 1, 2, 
3, 4, and 5. 

 

• 0: Hygiene Horror 

• 1: Sloppy Joe 

• 2: Hygiene Novice 

• 3: Hygiene Cavalier 

• 4: Hygiene Contender 

• 5: Hygiene Machine. 
 

The evaluation revealed 1Hygiene Cavaliers, 5 Hygiene Contenders and 106 Hygiene 
Machines. Thankfully we had no Hygiene Horrors or Sloppy Joes within the people who 
took part in the evaluation. 

Page 31



 
           
 Page 20 of 39          

 

 
5.6.4  E.coli 0157 
 

 E.coli food poisoning is fortunately a rare occurrence; however when it does occur it is 
particularly devastating as it takes very few E.coli organisms to cause illness and the 
effects are usually severe with often kidney failure and death seen in a high percentage.  
 Over the past few years the service have made a concerted effort to improve standards 
of food hygiene practises in the butcher’s premises supplying cooked and raw meats 
especially concentrating on the few premises in the Borough that used to use one 
Vacuum Packaging machine to pack cooked raw and cooked food. Whilst concentrating 
on this high risk sector, Officers have also been highlighting the principles of preventing 
E. coli infection to the wider catering trade and have been utilising the Food Standards 
Agency “Guidance on the Control of the risk of Cross Contamination from E.coli 0157”, 
now on its second revision. All officers have received training on this guidance and have 
due regard to its contents during their inspections. The guidance has also been 
publicised to businesses by newsletters, given out during inspections and during 
correspondence with them.    

 
5.6.5  Food Hygiene Coaching 

One of our major achievements in 2012/2013 was to see a further rise in the standard of 
food hygiene in premises in the borough, from 87% to 90% broadly compliant premises. 
This is on the back of an increase from 78% broadly compliant in April 2010. Whilst this 
rise in 3 years is impressive clearly it will become harder in future years to see further 
increases in standards across the borough.  However, in April 2014 we were approached 
by the Food Standards Agency to take part in research on delivery of food safety advice. 
The scheme being examined was the delivery of practical food safety coaching to help 
raise standards in small food businesses and was being funded by the Food Standards 
Agency. The project provided support to low compliance Take Away food businesses, 
using data from the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme and targeted businesses that were 0, 1 
and 2 rated. Initially, 8 premises in the borough met the criteria and were targeted for the 
one to one coaching session held at their premises. The coaching is based on the 4C’s; 
Cross-contamination, Cleaning, Chilling and Cooking, and includes a series of practical 
videos and a hand washing and cleaning demonstration and will also focus on the 
premises food safety management system. 
 
Then in late February the Council was further approached to provide additional premises 
to the scheme and a further 5 premises were nominated for coaching visits during March 
2014. 
 
Officers will monitor the effect of this coaching at their next formal inspection when it is 
hoped that the businesses will have improved their rating. 

 
5.6.6 Further Promotional Work 

 
 Various articles on food matters are produced for the Borough Bulletin, a Council 

publication sent to all dwellings and businesses within the Borough.  In 2013/14 two 
articles were published in the bulletins promoting food hygiene training and food hygiene 
ratings by a mobile phone application.   Additionally press releases on these topics were 
also issued resulting in several local publications publicising the topics. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 
           
 Page 21 of 39          

 

6.  Health and Safety Enforcement Service Delivery Plan 2014/15 
 
6.1  Description of Service 
 
 Health and Safety enforcement is part of the service provided by the Commercial Section 

of Environmental Health.  The service: 
 

� Inspects places of work and entertainment to ensure high standards of health, safety 
and welfare in accordance with current enforcement responsibilities.   

 
� Carries out accident and complaint investigations.   
 
� Provides advice and guidance to businesses, employees and the public.   

 
6.2      Aim of Health and Safety Enforcement Service 
 
 The overall aim of the health and safety enforcement service is: 
 

� To secure the workplace health, safety and welfare for both employees and the public 
in the Borough.   

 

6.3      Priorities of Health and Safety Enforcement Service 
 

 In March 2011 the Coalition Governments announced its plans to reform the health and 
safety system in Britain with the publication of ` Good Health and Safety, Good for 
Everyone`. Under the reforms, protecting people in the workplace and in society as a 
whole remained a key priority; however the focus of the health and safety regime will be a 
move to a lighter touch approach concentrating on higher risk industries and on tackling 
serious breaches of the rules.  
 
Consequently these reforms have required the HSE and local authorities to reduce the 
number of inspections carried out; to have greater targeting where proactive inspections 
continue; and to increase information provision to small businesses in a form that is both 
accessible and relevant to their needs.    
 
Guidance produced by the HSE through their National Local Authority Enforcement Code 
launched in May 2013 and the Health and Safety Executive /Local Authorities 
Enforcement Liaison Committee revised Local Authority Circular 67/2 (rev4) March 2014 
`Advice/Guidance to Local Authorities On Targeting Interventions have therefore been 
used to determine this Councils` key priorities for 2014/15.   
 
The HSE Code indicates that Local Authorities are expected to target proactive 
inspections on high risk activities in specified sectors or on workplaces where intelligence 
suggests that risks are not being effectively managed.  A listing of the activities and 
sectors suitable for inspection is published along with the Code.  
 
Based on the Code the key delivery priorities of the Health and Safety service of Hinckley 
and Bosworth Borough Council are: 

 
� To target health and safety interventions on higher risk areas and dealing with 

serious breaches of health and safety legislation.  
 
� Investigating major injury incidents and fatalities.  This approach is in line with 

national justice agenda and used to assess and target poor management as part of 
the Better Regulation agenda.   

 
 The service will need in 2014/15 to continue to keep a watching brief on national 

developments in health and safety policy.  

Page 33



 
           
 Page 22 of 39          

 

6.4     Delivery of the Health and Safety Service Priorities 2013/14 
 

In 2013/14 four projects were identified as priority initiatives: 
 
6.4.1    Legionella Project 

 

Since the 2012 outbreaks of Legionnaires Disease in Edinburgh and Stoke-on-Trent in 
which there were approximately 120 cases and 4 deaths, Legionella became a focus for 
health and safety enforcement in 2013 -14. As part of this focus the service in 2013/14 
targeted high and medium risk premises, for which we have enforcement responsibility, to 
ensure that premises have suitable controls in place to reduce the risk of legionnaire’s 
disease. 
 
The project aims were to firstly ensure that businesses are adequately assessing the 
risks from Legionella; that they had adequate controls in place to control the organism 
and to raise awareness of the risks posed by Legionella.  

 
33 premises were targeted as falling within the scope of the project. One premises, with 
evaporative condensers, was considered high risk by the HSE who requested it be 
inspected. Following inspection only minor remedial works were identified and an informal 
letter detailing works required to comply with legislation was sent to the owner and 
operator of the premises.  
 
In relation to the other 32 premises, 28 questionnaires were sent out to high risk premises 
(hotels, and sports clubs) and  4 letters and advice leaflets where sent to medium risk 
premises (Garden centres and retail premises with water features, displays, hot tubs, 
indoor/outdoor fountains or water features) with advice provided guiding the business on 
adopting safe control measures. 
 
Of the 28 sent a questionnaire, 14 fully returned the questionnaire with suitable evidence 
of controls in place and were deemed as compliant. The 14 non-compliant premises will 
be subject to a health and safety inspection during 2014/15. 

 
6.4.2    Beauty Sector Project 
 
The beauty sector project commenced in 2012 and aimed to increase public awareness 
of the risks of using unlicensed premises, the legal age restrictions and to survey 
businesses in the borough to identify the beauty treatments activity being offered.  
 
In 2012/13 the service concentrated on surveying all businesses within Hinckley and 
Bosworth involved with beauty treatments, including sunbeds and laser treatments to 
identify the treatments offered and enabling the service to update its records in respect of 
the registered persons and business details. 

Page 34



 
           
 Page 23 of 39          

 

 
 

In 2013/14 attention was turned to increasing public awareness of the risks associated 
with tattooing and piercing. An article, imitating an advert, was provided for the Summer 
2013 edition of the Borough Bulletin conveying the message for those considering a 
tattoo or piercing to use registered businesses, where hygiene conditions and infection 
controls have been checked and systems in place to ensure only over 18s seen. The 
advert also was used as a basis for an information leaflet provided to John Cleveland 
College, Midland Studio College and North Warwickshire & Hinckley College in June 
2013, in time for distribution prior to the summer holidays. The leaflet again contained 
information on the risks associated with tattoos, body piercing, ear piercing and to inform 
children and parents of the minimum age for tattoos. The leaflets were very well received 
by all Colleges with good feedback. 
 
6.4.3    E. coli / Cryptosporidium infection 
 
Identified as a national priority in National Local Authority Enforcement Code (May 2013) 
inspections were carried out at the two animal farm parks and Twycross Zoo during 
2013/14 to ensure adequate control measures were in place to reduce the risk of visitors 
contracting infections from the animals. Discussions were also held at Tropical Birdland 
over the risk of infection from Chlamydia and control measures in place to prevent 
infection spread from birds to humans. Adequate arrangements were found being applied 
in all premises in the borough. 
 
6.4.4  Residential Care Homes 
 
During 2013/14 a two year campaign was commenced to raise awareness of health and 
safety matters in the Residential Care Home sector and signpost operators to current 
advice where this was found to be necessary. This project was identified following 
accident statistics analysis by the Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Safety Best 
Practise Group which highlighted a significant incident rate within the sector locally.  
 
During 2013/14 inspections were prioritised to residential care homes with greater than 
ten residents within the borough, with the remainder to be inspected in 2014/15. This led 
to 17 premises being inspected in 2013/14. 
 
Management of specific areas/topics were audited and these included risk assessments, 
individual care plans, moving and handling, falls to residents, violence and aggression, 
hot surfaces and safe water temperatures as well as some general health and safety 
topics such as electrical safety, managing asbestos and welfare issues for employees. 

Page 35



 
           
 Page 24 of 39          

 

 
Standards found were generally high with operators given relevant advice where areas 
for improvement were identified. Only in one case was it necessary to follow up the 
inspection with a revisit to check that matters identified on the initial inspection had 
received attention and improvements had been made. 
 
6.4.5 Slips and Trips Initiative 
 
A further project identified following accident statistics analysis by the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Health and Safety Best Practise Group was a significant incident rate from slips 
and trips in the local hotel sector. 
 
A project was therefore undertaken to inspect 6 major hotels in the borough against a 
proforma drafted to highlight any slip or trip issues within the business. The hotels 
inspected were found to have adequate assessment procedures and documentation that 
covered slips and trips. No formal action was identified as necessary with the main issues 
raised included changes in levels, housekeeping and outside areas. 
 
6.4.6    Warehouse Initiative 
 
A third sector highlighted with significant accident reporting from analysis of accident 
statistics by the Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Safety Best Practise Group was 
within the warehouse sector. Project documentation based upon the work we had 
undertaken in this sector in 2012/13 focussing on, workplace transport equipment, 
unloading, loading and load/pallet integrity and safety was revised in order that the scope 
of the officer aide memoire  was extended to include storage racking and further 
questions added as a result of analysis of the 2012/13 returns. 

 
A further 4 premises in the borough were found to meet the project criteria for 2013/14. 
These premises were visited and assessed using the aid memoire as the basis for 
intervention. Broadly, all 4 premises were found to be generally compliant with the 
relevant regulations and where necessary advice and good practice recommendations 
were given to each premises operator. There were no serious breaches of legislation 
found.  

 

6.5     Delivery of the Health and Safety Service Priorities 2014/15 
 

The following chart illustrates the category profile of the 1452 Health and Safety premises 
within the borough for which the Council has enforcement responsibilities at the 1 April 
2014: - 

Page 36



 
           
 Page 25 of 39          

 

 
 
 6.5.1 Health and Safety Planned Inspections 2014/15 
 

 Based on the risk rating scheme the risk profile of premises whose health and  
 safety enforcement responsibility falls to this Council is shown in Table 1 below: 

 
 Table 1 – Risk Profile of Health and Safety Premises at 1 April 2014  
 
 
    

 In accordance with LAC 67/2 (rev 3) it is proposed in 2013/14 to target inspections at Category A businesses only,
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In accordance with LAC 67/2 (rev 3) it is proposed in 2014/15 to target inspections at   
Category A businesses only, resulting in an inspection target of 3 premises.  The 135 
medium risk categories ‘B1’ and ’B2’ premises due an intervention in 2014/15 will receive 

 
Category 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A 

Highest Risk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
B1 

Medium 
Risk -1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
B2 

Medium 
Risk - 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
(C) 

Lowest 
Risk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Unrated 

Summary of 
appropriate 
Intervention 
(LAC 67/2 
(rev 4) 

 
Proactive 
Inspection 

 

 
Alternative Intervention 
other than Proactive 

Inspection 

 
Reactive 

Intervention 
Only 

 

 
Total 
number of 
premises  

3 64 318 933 135 

 
Total  
number of 
interventions 
due 2013/14 

3 25 110 161 135 

Number of Health and Safety Premises at 01/04/14

Retail (379)

Warehouse (86)

Offices (265)

Catering (416)

Accomodation (14)

Residential Care (36)

Leisure (30)

Consumer Services

(223)

Other (3)

Page 37



 
           
 Page 26 of 39          

 

a hazard spotting intervention if a food premises and due a health and safety intervention 
or a questionnaire. Should a business not respond or require follow up action following 
receipt of a questionnaire, an advisory visit will be made. All unrated and new premises 
will receive either an advisory visit or questionnaire and be risk rated following the visit or 
return of the questionnaire. This is expected to result in a further 135 interventions.   
There will be no proactive interventions to C rated premises in 2014/15, however these 
premises will receive a visit should a reactive visit be required for instance should a 
service request be made or a serious accident arise . 

 
In summary therefore it is anticipated that the service will in 2014/15 conduct 3 
inspections and 270 interventions by questionnaires or advisory visits. In total therefore 
the health and safety service aims to achieve 273 interventions in 2014/15.   

   
6.5.2 Revisits 

 
 Revisits are carried out to confirm that employers and other duty holders have 

undertaken any necessary measures to comply with their legal obligations identified 
following an inspection or other intervention such as a complaint or accident 
investigation.   

 
 A revisit will be undertaken following all interventions at which significant contraventions 

have been identified.   
 
            Priority will be given to revisiting those premises where: 
 

• Formal enforcement action such as the service of an improvement or prohibition 
notice has been necessary to secure compliance with the law.   
 

• The premises are rated Category A.  
 

6.5.3 Accident Investigation 
 

In 2013/14 the council received 45 accidents / dangerous occurrences reported to it 
under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995 
(RIDDOR).  A significant fall from the 84 the previous year, which may be due to the 
reporting requirements being relaxed in 2012 so that any incident at work, (except those 
defined as major injuries) which results in an employee or self-employed person being 
away from work or unable to perform their normal work duties for more seven 
consecutive days is now reportable, instead of previously three. 

 
It is not necessary to investigate all of these notifications.  However, we will investigate all 
accidents, cases of disease and dangerous occurrences that meet the criteria set out in 
our policy document No7 - Procedures for the selection and investigation of accidents, 
diseases, dangerous occurrences and other statutory notifications. This policy is based 
upon HELA circular 22/13 “Incident Selection Criteria”, which was reviewed and 
implemented in 2010.  A high priority will be given to selecting for investigation slip, trips 
and fall accidents and incidents involving workplace transport.   

 
 In 2013/14 we investigated 9 (20%) of accident notifications received.  
 

 In 2014/15 it is anticipated that we will investigate approximately 30% of all the accidents 
reported to us.   

 
6.5.4 Service Requests 

 
All service requests relating to standards of occupational health and safety will be 
investigated and appropriate enforcement action taken.  We aim to respond to 100% of 
requests within 2 working days.   

Page 38



 
           
 Page 27 of 39          

 

 
In 2013/14 we received 47 requests for service.  In 2014/15 it is anticipated that a similar 
number (45) service requests will be received.   

 
Additionally where we are notified of asbestos removal activities, we will investigate them 
to ensure removal of asbestos material is being carried out in accordance with the 
legislation and codes of practise. 
 

 6.5.5   Intervention Plan 2014/15 
 

The service intends to be involved in several projects during 2014/15: 
 

 
Activity 

Evidence that 
identified the 
concern and 
set its priority 

Planned intervention 
type 

Rationale for 
intervention 

Outcome / 
output 
measures 

Proactive Interventions 

To continue to take 
an active role and 
promote the work of 
the LLEP Better 
Business For All 
Partnership 

Research 
undertaken by 
LBRO has 
identified that 
Regulators are 
viewed by 
some 
businesses as 
being a barrier 
to growth 

Partnerships It is expected that by 
developing a new, 
positive, transparent 
relationship between 
businesses and 
regulatory services, 
regulators will be 
perceived by 
businesses as 
supportive and 
helpful resulting in 
legal compliance 
and business growth 

Perception 
survey  

Inspection and 
provision of advice 
and guidance at 
businesses identified 
as risk category A 
 
 
 
 

Standards 
found at time of 
last intervention 

Inspection (Cat A) – 3 
Premises identified 

Undertake an 
intensive 
programme of 
support for all Cat A 
premises until the 
risk at the premises 
is reduced and can 
be categorised as 
B1 

Number of 
premises 
inspected 
Number of visits 
made 
Number of 
premises 
moving from A 
to B1 

Legionella Infection National 
Priority 
identified in 
National Local 
Authority 
Enforcement 
Code (May 
2013) 

Focused Inspections 
on Legionella controls 
in 14 high risk premises 
found in 2013/14 not to 
respond to survey or 
identified with 
significant gaps in 
controls 

To raise awareness 
and ensure 
adequate controls 
are being taken by 
business to prevent 
a legionella 
outbreak.  

Number of 
premises 
contacted / 
inspected, 
questionnaires 
returned and 
leaflets 
provided. 

Health and Safety 
campaign in Care 
Home Sector 

County 
RIDDOR 
statistics / 
reports of 
concern and 
National 
Priority 
identified in 
National Local 
Authority 
Enforcement 
Code (May 
2013) 

Conclude 2 year 
project of focused 
inspections in sector 
premises relating to 
legionella controls, 
scalding, falls, bedrails, 
moving and handling 
patients and violence at 
work. 

To raise awareness 
and ensure 
adequate controls in 
place to the major 
hazards in the Care 
Home sector. 

Number of 
inspections 
carried out / 
level of 
compliance of 
businesses. 
 
 
 
 
 

Health and safety 
campaign within the 

County 
RIDDOR 

Questionnaires/focused 
inspections in sector 

To raise awareness 
and ensure 

Number of 
premises visited 

Page 39



 
           
 Page 28 of 39          

 

Tyre and Exhaust 
fitting Sector  

statistics / 
reports of 
concern and 
priority 
identified in 
National Local 
Authority 
Enforcement 
Code (2014) 

premises.  adequate controls in 
place to the major 
hazards in the tyre 
and exhaust fitting 
sector. 

Number of 
enforcement 
notices served. 

Reactive Interventions 

Investigate reports of 
incidents and ill 
health using the 
Incident Selection 
Criteria 

RIDDOR 
statistics 

Incident and Ill Health 
Investigation. 

To investigate to 
establish if there are 
any issues or poor 
management 
performance. 

Number of 
incidents 
reported 
Number of 
incidents 
investigated 
Number of 
notices served 
Number of 
prosecutions / 
cautions. 

Investigate reports of 
concern and 
complaint from 
employees or 
members of the 
public 

Reports of 
complaint 

Dealing with Issues of 
Complaint 

To investigate to 
establish if there are 
any issues or poor 
management 
performance. 

Number/Nature 
of complaints 
investigated 
Number of 
notices served. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Respond to 
professional Officers 
concerns on the 
performance of a 
business. 

Reports of 
concern 

Dealing with Issues of 
Concern 

Respond to matters 
of evident concern / 
or significant 
breaches of health & 
safety law identified 
during a visit 
undertaken for 
another primary 
purpose e.g. a food 
hygiene inspection 
or licensing 
inspection or 
referred from 
another regulator 
e.g. Fire Service 

Number of 
referrals from 
other regulators 
Number of 
matters of 
evident concern 
/ significant 
breaches 
Number of 
notices served 

Carry out checks on 
the maintenance 
regimes of premises 
with underground 
LPG pipe work which 
are notified to us by 
reports from the HSE 

Recognised 
national priority 
identified in 
National Local 
Authority 
Enforcement 
Code (May 
2013) 

Dealing with Issues of 
Concern 

To investigate 
condition and 
maintenance 
regimes following 
notifications of 
underground pipe 
work from HSE.  

Number of 
notifications 
received 
 
Number of 
notices served 

 

 
  6.5.6 Delivery mechanisms 
 

In order to deliver our priorities for 2014/15 the mechanisms illustrated in the following 
Table will be utilised.   

Page 40



 
           
 Page 29 of 39          

 

 
Priority Delivery Mechanism   Deadline 

Section 18 
Compliance 

Service Plan approved by Executive 
 

 

30 June 
2014 

Appropriate 
Enforcement 

 
 

Continue to ensure enforcement decisions are 
consistent with our Enforcement Policy, the HSE`s 
Enforcement Policy Statement and the Enforcement 
Management Model.  This will ensure proportionate, 
consistent, transparent and accountable enforcement in 
line with the Better Regulation agenda.    

 
 

31 March 
2015 
 

Staff Training 

Complete Personal Development Appraisals for all staff 
 
 
Review Personal Development Appraisals and monitor 
Officers progress 
 
 
Ensure Officers attend revision /training on relevant 
health and safety topics to ensure they are appropriately  
trained and developed  ensuring their competence and 
credibility with local businesses and encouraging staff 
retention/recruitment 

31 May 
2014 
 
30 

November 
2014 
 

31 March 
2015 

   
 

6.6 Performance Indicators 
 

Description 2013/14 2013/14 2014/15 

 Target Actual Target 

Local Performance Indicators    

Number of workplace interventions carried out  
255 

215 
(84.3%) 

272 

Service Performance Indicators    

Percentage of service requests investigated 100 100 100 

Percentage of service requests responded to 
within 2 working days 

100 98% 100 

Percentage of asbestos notifications investigated 100 100  100 

 
 
6.7 Provision of Information 
 
 A key objective of the council’s health and safety enforcement service is to provide advice 

and guidance to businesses and employees.   
 
 Since 2009 a health and safety newsletter was produced for all businesses for which the 

Council is enforcing authority in the Borough. To save on publishing and postal costs our 
practise the past few years has been to send each business a mail shot indicating the 
existence of the newsletter on the Councils website. However in 2012/13 this method 
indicated that only 45 hits were made to the newsletter pages. Last year, in an attempt to 

Page 41



 
           
 Page 30 of 39          

 

increase uptake, we promoted the newsletter through the council’s social media networks 
on Twitter, Facebook etc. but again the letter only received 49 hits. This year therefore it 
has been decided in view of the poor hit rate not to produce a newsletter but move to 
sending targeted information to specific industry sectors, such as the letters and advice 
leaflets sent to Garden centres and retail premises with water features, displays, hot tubs, 
indoor/outdoor fountains or water features with advice on adopting safe control measures 
to prevent legionella arising. 

 
 The Commercial section has made a commitment to issue press releases relating to 

forthcoming events planned for health and safety issues.  In addition premises will be 
sent information on any significant changes to legislation.   

 
   

6.8   Health and Safety Enforcement Policy 
 

On the 6 April 2014 a revised Regulators Code came into force. Through the Regulatory 
Partnership set up under the Leicester Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership, the service 
is working up its revision to its documented general and Health and Safety Enforcement 
Policies adopted by the Council in January 2002 and revised versions in 2008 and 2011, 
to ensure the Council meets the statutory requirements of the new code. Once completed 
revised general and Health and Safety enforcement policies will be put before the 
Executive of the Council for approval in 2014.  

 
The current policies set out what business and others being regulated can expect from 
officers and the Council and based on the principles of good enforcement, contained in 
the Regulators Compliance Code of 2008.  

 
6.9   Improved Contact with Employee Representative 
 
  It is acknowledged that an essential contact to improve health and safety standards in 

workplaces is the workplace Health and Safety Representative.  In order to establish 
these contacts an effort is made to liaise with them and record their contact details at 
appropriate interventions.  Furthermore standard inspection report letters emphasise the 
legal requirement to inform employees on any health and safety items which may affect 
them.   

 
6.10    Smoke Free Legislation 
 
  Smoke Free Legislation came into force on 1 July 2007.  The legislation meant that 

virtually all enclosed public places and workplaces became smoke free.  Enforcement in 
this Borough is by Officers from within the Commercial Section.   

 
  During 2013/14 the service received 4 complaints from members of the public and one 

request for advice from a business. The service also continued to proactively monitor 
compliance with emphasis at all food hygiene, health and safety and licensing 
inspections.  This monitoring resulted in 4 informal warnings being given to businesses 
but no formal action taken. 

 
 Continued monitoring and appropriate enforcement will continue in 2014/15.   

 

Page 42



 
           
 Page 31 of 39          

 

7.  Resources 

 
7.1 Financial Allocation 
 
 Resources allocated to the Commercial Team are not kept separate from the general 

allocation of funds in the budget for the Environmental Health Section.  In 2013/14 a net 
total budget of £887,010 was allocated to Environmental Health and revised during the 
year to £908,424 due to increasing costs associated with an on-going court case. At the 
beginning of 2014/15 a budget of £790,020 has been allocated and represents a 
decrease in budget of 10.93% on the original budget for 2013/14 and is mainly due to a 
substantial decrease in Central I.T.Recharges.   

  
 Operational staff all have essential user car status.  They are supported with appropriate 

equipment to carry out their inspections and sampling activities.  Specific resources are 
made available annually for the rolling replacement of equipment, food sampling and 
analysis, training and other specific aspects of service provision; again these are funded 
from the general Environmental Health budget.   

 
 The Idox computer system is used for planning and recording food safety and health and 

safety activities.   
 
 Formal enforcement action for example, prosecution of a food business proprietor would 

involve activity by the authority’s Legal Services Section.  Costs incurred by legal services 
would be included in the annual recharge to the Team and as such it is not classed as 
controllable expenditure.   

 
7.2 Staff Allocation 
 
 At the 1 April 2013 five Environmental Health Officers and one Environmental Health 

Technical Officer with appropriate qualifications and experience that meet the 
requirements of the Food Safety Act Code of Practice were involved in food hygiene 
enforcement.  This was represented by one manager and five field staff.  Taking into 
account the services provided by the Team this equates to 3 full time equivalent officers 
engaged in food hygiene enforcement.   

 
The service has an administration section and a Systems Administrator which supports 
the Team.   

 
 The five Environmental Health Officers and one Environmental Health Technical Officer 

have the appropriate qualifications and experience to enforce Health and Safety 
legislation and this equates to 1.5 FTE officers employed in Health and Safety.   

 
 All field staff are competent and appropriately qualified, trained and supervised 

commensurate with Food Law Code of Practice (England) and with Health and Safety 
Executive Section 18 Mandatory Guidance `The Standard for Health and Safety 
Enforcing Authorities` (2008).  

 
7.3 Staff Development Plan 
 
 Every member of staff has a Personal Development Review annually, usually May, with a 

six month review.  These reviews draw out any training and development needs required 
of officers. 

 
 In addition the Service has a documented Training Policy which is adhered to and 

stipulates the ongoing training requirements for staff in compliance with the Food Law 
Code of Practice (England) and with Health and Safety Executive’s Section 18 Mandatory 
Guidance: `The Standard for Health and Safety Enforcing Authorities` (2008).  

  

Page 43



 
           
 Page 32 of 39          

 

 
 Should any staff return to food hygiene or health and safety work after some time out, 

appropriate structured refresher training in compliance with the Food Law Code of 
Practice (England) and for The Standard for Health and Safety Enforcing Authorities 
(2008) will be given.   

 
 Training will be given to all staff, either by external or internal means, on any new 

Legislation or Food Standards Agency/HSE requirements.   
 

Page 44



 
           
 Page 33 of 39          

 

 
8.  Quality Assessment 

 
8.1 Quality Assessment 
 
 The Food Safety Service has developed 18 documented procedures to ensure the quality 

of its service.  These cover areas of: 
 

- Food Hygiene Inspection Procedures 
- Documentation and Implementation of a Service Delivery Plan 
- Enforcement Policy 
- Food Sampling Procedures 
- Food Sampling Programme 
- Alternative Enforcement Strategy 
- Authorisation of Officers 
- Infectious Disease Investigation Procedures 
- Outbreak Control Procedure 
- Food Complaints 
- Operational complaints 
- Internal Monitoring Procedures 
- Food Hazard Warnings 
- Database Maintenance 
- Prevention of Loss of Data from Database 
- Quality Monitoring 
- Documented Control System 
- Training systems 
- Equipment Maintenance and Calibration  
- Local Liaison Arrangements 
- Third Party or Peer Review Arrangements 
- Promotion of Food Safety Issues 

 
 These documents were developed in 2001/2 and revision of all was completed in 2008/09 

in light of a new Code of Practice issued by the Food Standards Agency in March 2006 
and the issue of the Regulators Compliance Code which came into force on 6 April 2008.   

 
 The Health and Safety Service also has documented procedures developed in 2001/02 

these being:  
 
- Enforcement Policy (revised 2009 and 2010) 
- Enforcement Procedures  
- Inspection Procedures  
- Health and Safety Information Policy 
- Health and Safety Accident and RIDDOR Notifications (Revised 2010), (Incident              

selection process 
- Formal Cautions 
- Notice Procedure 
- Core Competencies and Training for Enforcement Offices  
 

 The Enforcement Policy was revised in 2009 to incorporate changes relating to the 
Regulators Compliance Code and again in 2010 following an Equality Impact 
Assessment. The Incident Investigation Selection Procedure was revised in 2010 as part 
of the process to ensure the Council is fully compliant with Section 18 guidance. The 
remaining documents have all been revised in 2011/12.   

 
 Historically sound management practices and the professionalism of officers have 

assured quality management, due the small size of the team.  A Quality Management 
Procedure was drafted for the Food Safety service in 2008/09 which included relevant 
monitoring arrangements to ensure all procedures are complied with in relation to 

Page 45



 
           
 Page 34 of 39          

 

enforcement work and the training and development of staff.  Similar procedures also 
apply to Health and Safety activities.   

 
 Correspondence emanating from the officers of the Section is sampled by the 

Environmental Health Manager (Commercial) for his perusal before despatch, in order to 
ensure accuracy and consistency in content. Additionally all notices are checked before 
service to ensure consistency, legal accuracy and compliance with our enforcement 
policies.  

 
 Additionally the Council works with other Leicestershire Authorities with Inter Authority 

Audits, Peer Review Exercises etc.  In December 2013 the service took part in a 
countywide initiative of having part of our service audited by a neighbouring authority. The 
Inter Authority Auditing involved an officer from North West Leicestershire District Council 
auditing the service’s delivery of the implementation of Food Standards Agency guidance 
on controlling the risk of cross contamination from E.coli 0157.The audit consisted of an 
examination of our service and enforcement plans, food inspection procedures, sampling 
records, Council website, officers training, dissemination of information to food business 
operators, Inspection Aid Memoire, actions taken where serious contraventions found and 
file checks. The audit concluded that the service “was able to demonstrate that it is 
effectively implementing FSA guidance on controlling the risk of cross contamination”, 
with 3 recommendations made regarding: 
 

� Referencing the guidance in our Food Hygiene Inspection Procedure 
 
� Revising our inspection aide memoire to ensure more detail of a premises 

compliance or otherwise with the guidance is recorded and to demonstrate 
consistency of inspections.  

 
� Increase internal monitoring of files. 

 
Reciprocal arrangements were made with the Environmental Health Manager 
(Commercial) auditing Oadby and Wigston Borough Council’s implementation of the 
guidance. Additionally all audit results are being collated and examined to establish best 
practice and any common learning points for Leicestershire councils. 

 
 In previous years the Section has conducted post inspection satisfaction surveys by way 

of a questionnaire sent out to premises which have received an inspection.  Each 
returned questionnaire was monitored for any individual issues and then additionally 
compiled for analysis.  Unfortunately due to this exercise being time intensive and with 
already high satisfaction levels (100% in 2010/11 and 98% in 2009/10 being satisfied with 
the Sections inspection service), and the service having to focus on more core activities 
with reduced resources, surveys have not been conducted since 2010/11.   

  
8.2 Better Business for all (BBfa) 
 

The Better Business for all project was launched in September 2011 by the Leicester and 
Leicestershire Local Enterprise Partnership (LLEP) to build a new relationship between 
businesses and regulators in the Leicester and Leicestershire area. The aim was for 
regulators to be seen by businesses as supporting enterprise, growth and investment, 
key priorities in the LLEP Strategic Economic Plan 2012 -2020.  
 
Key achievements for BBfa in 2013/14 include: 
 

• National Pathfinder and leader in Innovation and good practice – BBfa remains 
the leading pathfinder, recognised by the Department of Business, Innovation and 
Skills and Department of Communities and Local Government receiving numerous 
requests from different stakeholders to speak about developments in the 

Page 46



 
           
 Page 35 of 39          

 

programme. A business supplement was published highlighting the BBfa story 
(available in the members room) 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Steven Merry, Environmental Health Manager (Commercial) and Bill Cullen, Deputy Chief 
Executive (Community Direction) 

signing the Charter at the Better Business for All Launch event. 
 

 

    

• Single point of access - A single point of access to advice and guidance continues 
with 3 elements to the Business Support Scheme: 

 
i. Single phone number 0871 384 3185  
ii. Website www.llep.org.uk/betterbusinessforall 
iii. Officer referral 

 
However, due to limited marketing in 2013/14 telephone calls have reduced 
significantly 

 

• Business Start Up Brochure – this brings together information about local and national 
regulators which start ups may need to be aware of, as well as other useful services. 
This has been updated and continues to be well received at networking events. There 
are repeated requests from other LEPs to use the Leicestershire template. The 
brochure is provided free of charge to all businesses to use and can be assessed at: 

 
  http://www.llep.org.uk/advice_pack 

 

• Intelligent Regulatory Information System (IRIS) – BBfa is the only national pilot 
looking to explore how information can be shared  and assist in targeting of resources 
to the “Rogue Traders”  and traders operating illegally and undermining the level 
playing field. The pilot is in the testing phase involving HSE, Fire Service, Charnwood 
Borough Council and North West Leicestershire District Council. 

 

• Free Food Business Coaching – described in 5.6.5 carried out throughout 
Leicestershire, benefiting 13 local businesses by giving them the means to improve 
their food hygiene rating.  

 

• Business Communication and Engagement training – training was given to all 
commercial staff to give them skills to improve their communication and engagement 
with businesses. 

 
   

Page 47



 
           
 Page 36 of 39          

 

 Planned initiatives for 2014/15 include: 
 

• Extending BBfa to Planning services to assist in improving the planning experience for 
business  

 

• Developing a Growth Hub which will act as a single point of contact for all business 
support in Leicester and  Leicestershire 

 

• Exploring regulatory barriers on the High Street with recommendations to be made to 
Government. 

 

• To encourage the implementation of the Regulators Code across the LLEP on a 
partnership basis to provide consistency of approach to business. 

 

• Setting up a Fire Safety Working Group to improve communication and understanding of 
breweries of fire risk assessment and compliance 

 

• To undertake research and gain better understanding of why there appears to be a 
greater proportion of minority ethnic businesses that sell age restricted products to under 
age consumers.      

 
 
After 3 years of the BBfa programme it is emerging that the LLEP is being positively influenced 
by working with regulators, evidenced by the inclusion of the BBfa in its Strategic Economic Plan 
and development of the Growth Hub. However, continuing this work will be fundamental to the 
sustainability of the programme as well as the work needed on improving the profile of the 
programme locally to raise awareness and engagement. 

Page 48



 
           
 Page 37 of 39          

 

9.  Review 
 
9.1 Review 
 
 Procedures are in place to review the service plan on an ongoing basis, and annually.   
 
 The plan is regularly monitored during its year of operation by the Environmental Health 

Manager (Commercial) who subsequently reports progress at Service Management 
meetings.  Each quarter a report is produced for all Members highlighting the 
performance of all Services in Environmental Health.  In these, performance of the 
Commercial Section is annotated and any issues highlighted.  The Executive Member 
responsible for the Environmental Health portfolio regularly meets with the Environmental 
Health managers and may also take periodic monitoring reports to the Executive.  Any 
service adjustments required during the year may then be instigated to ensure if possible 
that the targets set can be met.   

 
 At the end of the year the Environmental Health Manager (Commercial) will review the 

Commercial Sections activities during that year.  The review will report through this 
Service Plan information on the previous year’s performance against the service plan, 
and any other specified performance target, and performance standards and targeted 
outcomes.  Any identified variance from the service plan and where appropriate the 
reasons for that variance, will be brought to the attention of the appropriate Executive 
member.   

 
 The Scrutiny Commission of the Council has a function to review service delivery plans.  

The Commission may call for the plan at any time and make comment or 
recommendations to the Executive or the Council.   

 
9.2   Identification of variance from the Service Plan 2013/14 
 
 9.2.1 Interventions 
 

                       In total the Section made 693 interventions during 2013/14, representing 87% of the 
target of 795 for the year.   

 
a) Food Hygiene 
 
The section has inspected 453 food premises for food safety and received 22 self-
assessment questionnaires, totalling 475 interventions for 2013/14.   

 
 The Food Safety Enforcement Service Delivery Plan of 2013/14 required 460 premises 

to be inspected and 80 premises dealt with by way of self-assessment questionnaire, 
totalling 540 interventions for the year; hence 88% of the food safety inspection 
programme was achieved. The number of inspections achieved was 98.5% of the 
programme target, with questionnaires to low risk premises only achieving 27.5% of 
target.    

 
The resultant enforcement actions are described in the table below.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 
           
 Page 38 of 39          

 

Food Safety Enforcement Actions 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T
h 
 
 
T
h
e
 
m
o
s 
 

 
The most significant enforcement action in 2013/14 involved two premises where 
voluntary closures were obtained when evidence was discovered of limited mouse 
infestations in low risk food areas. Both premises immediately engaged pest control 
contractors, carried out pest proofing and other remedial works to enable the closures to 
be lifted in short order.   

 
b) Occupational Health and Safety 

 
 The section has inspected 3 Category A rated premises for occupational health and 

safety, received 114 questionnaire responses, carried out 101 advisory visits, totalling 
218 interventions for 2013/14. 

 
The Health and Safety Enforcement Service Delivery Plan of 2013/14 required 255 
interventions for the year; hence 85.5% of the health and safety intervention programme 
was achieved. 

 
The intervention programme produced no significant enforcement action being required.  

 
 9.2.2    Courses and Campaigns 
 

 During 2013/14 the service took part in several Food and Health and Safety initiatives as 
listed below:      
 

� The service’s delivery of the implementation of Food Standards Agency 
guidance on controlling the risk of cross contamination from E.coli 0157 has 
been audited and found “able to demonstrate that it is effectively 
implementing FSA guidance on controlling the risk of cross contamination”. 

 
� Continued to embed and promote the national Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 

in the borough. 798 registered food premises in the borough within the scope 
of the scheme now have a rating and on the national website.  

 
� Conducted a campaign during Food Safety Week on the theme of ‘Kitchen 

Check‘. 
 

 

Type of Premises 

Premises 
issued with 
Informal 
Notices 

Premises 
issued with 
Improvement 

Notices 

Voluntary / 
Emergency 
Closure 

Prosecution/ 
Formal 
Caution 

Primary Producers 0 0 0 0 

Manufacturers and Packers 10 1 0 0 

Importers/Exporters 0 0 0 0 

Distributors/Transporters 2 0 0 0 

Retailers 120 3 0 0 

Restaurants/Caterers 219 1 2 0 

TOTALS 351 5 2 0 

Page 50



 
           
 Page 39 of 39          

 

� Conducted health and safety campaigns on legionella, beauty treatments, 
prevention of infections from animal farms, warehouse safety, slips trips and 
falls and within the residential care homes sector.   

 
� Published and distributed information leaflets on the Food Information 

Regulations, Listeria infections in Nursing and Residential Care Homes and 
on legionella control in at risk businesses. 

 
�  Enabled 13 poorly hygiene rated food businesses to receive one to one 

coaching in order to improve their rating and thereby their business prospects 
and public protection. 

 
� Attracted £2,000 grant from the Food Standards Agency for implementation 

of United Kingdom Food Surveillance Scheme, a national database to enable 
greater intelligence for risk based sampling programmes.    

 
 9.2.3  Service Requests 
 
 In total the Section investigated 144 service requests during 2013/14.  This represented 

47 for health and safety and 97 food related. The rise in prospective new businesses 
seeking advice seen last year seems to have been maintained , with 40 in 2013 /14 as 
compared with 29 in 2012/13. 

  
 9.2.4  Sampling 

 
 The 2013/14 sampling programme in which 259 food, 24 water samples and 176 

environmental swabs were taken, was achieved in full.   
   

            9.2.5  Infectious Diseases 
 

 The Section carried out 32 food poisoning investigations in 2013/14.   
 
 9.2.6  Areas of Improvement 2013/14 

 
The service was able to progress all of the key service improvements and objectives   
for 2013/14 except the revision of existing food and health and safety procedure notes 
which will be examined in 2014/15.     

 
9.3 Areas of Improvement for 2014/15 
 
  Key service improvements and objectives for 2014/15 are: 
 
 1. Draft and have approved revised enforcement policies which are in line with the 

Regulators Code along with service standards. 
 

2.   Keep a watching brief on the Coalition Government policy reviews and initiatives 
with respect to food safety enforcement and health and safety and assess their 
implications on the Councils enforcement service.  

 
3.     Keep a watching brief on the LLEP development and its implications for the 

‘Better Business for All’ project within the borough to improve the confidence of 
business in approaching the Council for advice and guidance on regulation.  

 
4.   Review administrative arrangements to improve efficiency and consistency in food 

safety and health and safety activities in particular to revise existing food and 
health and safety procedure notes. 

 
5.   Ensure data continues to improve, in reliability, and robustness.   

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE – 25TH JUNE 2014 
 
REPORT OF DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE (COMMUNITY 
DIRECTION) 
 
RE: HINCKLEY & BOSWORTH VCS ARRANGEMENTS – OUTCOMES ARISING FROM 
VCS COMMISSIONING 2013/14  
 
WARDS AFFECTED: ALL WARDS 
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

- To inform members of the outcomes arising from the newly established 
VCS commissioning arrangements in 2013/14 

- To inform members of the proposed opportunities and focus for VCS 
commissioning for 2014/15 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

- To note the outcomes delivered during 2013/14 
- To endorse the proposals for VCS commissioning for 2014/15 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT 
 
3.1. Following the establishment of new VCS arrangements for Hinckley and Bosworth 

from April 2013, Executive Committee received a report on 22nd January 2014, 
outlining achievements during this first year. 

 
3.2. During 2013/14 achievements/outcomes included: 
 

- Establishment of an overarching VCS Development Forum, comprising 30 VCS 
organisations, which helped to inform the new arrangements, and supported its 
development through 2013/14. 
 
- A comprehensive mapping exercise resulting in the identification of, to date, 1,197 
active VCS organisations within the Borough, and the establishment of a VCS 
database and Directory detailing the type of provision and geographical location 
 
- Establishment of a VCS Commissioning Board, comprising ten VCS 
representatives and two HBBC Executive Councillors (Cllrs Bron Witherford and 
Keith Lynch).  The aim of this Board is to provide a fair and accessible way of 
commissioning services to the VCS. 
 
- Promotion and management of arrangements inviting all VCS organisations to put 
forward bids for a share of £20,000 for projects seeking to support and sustain good 
mental health and wellbeing within the community.  Including the successful 
establishment of VCS collaboration in submitting joint bids 

 
- Meeting of the Commissioning Board to review successful bids and decision to 
allocate £20,000 to support the delivery of 10 projects 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 53



 

 

3.3. The Executive report also outlined proposals for 2014/15, to support the ongoing 
development of VCS arrangements, as follows: 

 
- Develop the VCS Development Forum, securing more VCS organisations, 

and specifically smaller VCS organisations 
- Ongoing maintenance and expansion of the VCS database, and 

geographical mapping of provision to understand reach and gaps  
- Enable effective VCS representation at HBBC/locality key delivery 

partnerships/forums 
- Enable the VCS to position itself effectively for emerging commissioning 

opportunities, not just via HBBC, but other statutory sectors such as the 
Clinical Commissioning Groups. 

- Continued development of the NGCC building in establishing a VCS Hub 
for the locality, offering a town centre venue for a range of VCS provision, 
e.g. recruitment of volunteers, outreach provision/venue, etc. 

- VCS Forum to seek appropriate grant funding as part of the funding 
package to support ongoing development  

 
3.4. Subsequently Executive members agreed to support the VCS arrangements going 

forward for 2014/15, (based on the funding arrangements as for 2013/14, plus a 
small supplementary budget to ensure sustainability of the lead VCS infrastructure 
organisation). 

 
3.5. VCS Commissioning 2013/14 – Commissioned Projects and Outcomes 
 
3.6. During 2013/14 under the new VCS arrangements, the VCS Commissioning Board 

allocated £20,000 funds to support the delivery of 10 projects.  Appendix 1 – details 
the brief inviting bids for projects that seek to ‘support and sustain good mental 
health and wellbeing within the community’ 
 
Based on the criteria for assessment and allocation of funds, the VCS Forum 
developed and agreed the scope of the evaluation form for completion by each VCS 
organisation awarded funds, a copy is attached for information at Appendix 2. 
 
Overall the £20,000 funds enabled: 
 

- the delivery of 10 very diverse projects and range of provision for the 
community, targeting a wide range of age groups, and geographical 
reach including the rural northern parishes. 

- delivered 508 hours of direct interactive support and provision to 618 
beneficiaries 

- the funds enabled 22 paid staff to contribute their skills, knowledge and 
experience to support the development and delivery of the work 

- the delivery of this provision was supported by 45 volunteers who gave 
their time to benefit the community 

 
Appendix 3 provides a summary of the projects commissioned and outcomes 
delivered.  A copy of the detailed evaluation reports for each project can be made 
available on request. 

 
4.0. Next Steps – Opportunities and Focus for VCS Commissioning 2014/15 
 
4.1. During 2014/15 the proposed focus will be to commission service provision that 

seeks to reduce the impact of social isolation and loneliness, within our communities.  
 

Page 54



 

There are a range of groups vulnerable to social isolation and loneliness i.e. young 
care leavers, carers, those with mental health issues, and older people who are 
particularly vulnerable owing to loss of friends, family, mobility and income. 

 
4.2. There is growing evidence showing the profound impact loneliness can have on 

health, and its association with poor health choices, with lonely people more likely to 
smoke, drink to excess, have a poor diet, and less likely to exercise enough. 

 
4.3. In addition, and linked to this theme we have secured commitment from West 

Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group WLCCG), to commission a 
befriending/sitting scheme to support their proactive care programme, via the VCS 
Commissioning arrangements.   

 
4.4. The proactive care programme aims to support patients and carers to live 

independently in their usual place of residence, to reduce unscheduled hospital 
admissions and reduce length of stay.  A robust assessment process identifies 
individuals most at risk, and are usually age 70 to mid 80s, and diagnosed with long 
term conditions such as diabetes, blood pressure or lung condition. 

 
4.5. Integrated locality care teams including social care, community services, allied health 

professionals and general practice will work across health & social care in a specific 
geographical area and provide patients with a key worker, a clinical coordinator, to 
help join up and co-ordinate their care.  

 
4.6. Since the introduction of the pro care care programme in 2012/13, it has become 

evident that one of the key gaps in provision, is the availability of locally based 
sustainable befriending provision, to complement clinical support.   

 
4.7. Securing CCG commitment is an important development in broadening public sector 

commitment to VCS commissioning through our locality arrangements.  Building on 
outcomes arising from 2013/14 commissioning, it provides an opportunity to further 
demonstrate the place of the VCS in supporting the reduction of high level costs, as a 
result of cost effective early intervention and prevention provision.  

 
5.0. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS (KB) 
 
5.1. As outlined above, the VCS Hub has been allocated £20,000 in 2013/2014, for 

commissioning.  The outputs for funding are detailed in the body of the report. 
 
6.0. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS (MR) 

 
6.1. None 

 
8.0. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS 

 
The contents of the report relate to and support the following strategic  

 aims: 
� Cleaner and Greener Neighbourhoods 
� Thriving Economy 
� Safer and Healthier Borough 
� Strong and distinctive communities 
 

7.0. CONSULTATION 
 

This report has taken account of the ongoing consultation undertaken by NGCC our 
lead VCS infrastructure organisation, utilising the comprehensive VCS database and 
Directory, to inform the development of the VCS Forum, Commissioning Board, and 
commissioning proposals for 2014/15. 

Page 55



 

 
10.  RISK IMPLICATIONS 

 
It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives. 
 
It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively. 
 
The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment: 

 

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks 

Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner 

Lack of sustainability of key VCS 
organisations within Hinckley and 
Bosworth.  Lack of opportunity for 
smaller VCS organisations to bid for 
contracts resulting in demise of VCS 
within the locality 
 

Ongoing development of the 
VCS locality arrangements, 
and establishment of 
effective VCS commissioning 
arrangements for Hinckley & 
Bosworth  

Edwina 
Grant 

 
 
11. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The utilisation of up to date evidence sources and data, informed via the key VCS 
organisations within the locality, has helped to inform the need to consider alternative 
approaches to the sustainability of the VCS within Hinckley and Bosworth, to focus 
resources on priority needs across all areas of the Borough, including rural Hinckley 

and Bosworth; and to introduce effective VCS commissioning arrangements. 

 
12. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 

- Community Safety implications 
- Environmental implications 
- ICT implications 
- Asset Management implications 
- Human Resources implications 
- Planning Implications 
- Voluntary Sector 

 
 
 
Background papers: None 
 
Contact Officer:  Edwina Grant, Ext 5629 
 
Executive Member:  Cllr David Bill 

Page 56



         Appendix 1 
 

VCS Commissioning 2013/14 
 

Introduction: 
This pilot year provides opportunities to test out the VCS Forum, VCS 
Commissioning Board arrangements, and VCS capacity and practice.  It is 
recognised that this will be a learning experience, and we acknowledge there 
will be improvements identified to inform the approach going forward.  
Therefore we would encourage all VCS organisations to get involved so that 
you can be part of this ongoing learning and development process. 
 
HBBC Commissioning Theme:  
Supporting and maintaining good mental health and wellbeing for the 
community of Hinckley and Bosworth 
 
Evidence of Need: 
Many statutory front line workers are increasingly identifying members of the 
community who appear to have low level mental health issues, but who are 
likely to fall below the statutory thresholds, regarding eligibility for support.   
 
Therefore, HBBC is seeking the support of the VCS to help members of the 
community achieve and maintain good mental health and wellbeing.  The 
authority recognises that the VCS are well placed to both understand and 
deliver some of this support, but also likely to have a good understanding of 
what works well, and a perspective on gaps in support. 
 
Project Brief: 
VCS organisations are invited to put forward project proposals that are about: 
 
1). Growing/developing/expanding an existing area of successful work.  The 
submission must include evidence that the approach has been tested and 
evaluated 
 
and/or 
 
2). Delivering a new piece of work.  The submission must include evidence of 
need. 
 
The project must involve direct practical activity engaging with local people, to 
deliver outcomes for them, which can be tested, evidenced and evaluated, not 
research or consultation pieces of work. 
 
In delivering the work, VCS organisations are encouraged to work 
collaboratively with at least one other VCS organisation, in order that this pilot 
year also provides an opportunity to test out collaborative/cost effective/new 
ways of working. 
 
 
 

Page 57



 
 
 
Outcomes: 
For the purposes of this project, the definition of wellbeing and good mental 
health is defined as: ‘a state of being in which every individual realises his or 
her own potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work 
productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to her or his 
community’.  

The commissioned piece/s of work must be able to evidence that wellbeing 
has been improved and sustained as a result of the intervention. 

The evidence provided will help HBBC and other statutory agencies, gain a 
greater understanding of the contribution and impact of VCS delivery in 
supporting this increasing area of need. 

We appreciate this is very much a starting point, and recognise there is likely 
to be a lot of over laps and gaps in provision, and will welcome the opportunity 
through the VCS Forum going forward, for two way sharing and learning, to 
inform priority needs and future commissioning opportunities. 

Funding:  
Total funding available £20,000.  Maximum funding per project £5000. 
 
Application Process: There will be a formal application process, details will 
be circulated in early September 2013.  In the interim you are encouraged to 
consider relevant projects and explore potential collaborative partners. 
 
Timescales: 
Projects to be commissioned by 1st November 2013.  Projects to be 
completed by end of March 2014, with a written evaluation submitted within 
one month of completion of the project, detailing the positive 
change/impact/improvement/benefits for members of the community. 

Page 58



1 

 

                                       Appendix 2 
 

Voluntary & Community Sector (VCS) Forum/Commissioning 
Board  

VCS Commissioned Projects 2013/14 

 
Evaluation Report 

 
Dear ............................ 
 
Reference your Project ................................... 
Grant awarded ................................................ 
 
We hope that the grant awarded by the VCS Commissioning Board on October 29th 2013, for the 
named project above, has enabled you to successfully develop and deliver the work as outlined in 
your application form.  To enable the VCS Forum and the VCS Commissioning Board to evaluate 
and further develop the process, we require successful Applicants, who received HBBC/VCS 
Forum/Commissioning Board 2013/14 Project Funding, to provide a Summary Evaluation of the 
Project work carried out with that funding. Completing the Summary Evaluation should help you 
reflect on how the local people you involved (the beneficiaries) benefited from your Project and 
what you have learned from the experience. The VCS Forum/Board along with partners will also 
learn about your practice and success, helping us to improve and promote VCS practice in the 
Borough and our arrangements for funding and supporting projects in 2014/15. 
 
An Evaluative Report is about providing evidence and explanation, which tells us what in reality 
actually happened and was achieved by a Project. This may differ from what was originally planned 
and it is important to indicate where there are differences from what was planned, and explain why. 
Short notes are better than long essays! 

 

*Please refer to the Guidance Notes provided prior to completion of each 
section. 
 
Section (1) guidance: 
A question about why your project was needed and existed – in hindsight it might not have turned 
out as you expected.  
A question about who you worked with in the Borough - were they from a particular area, 
community or neighbourhood, or were they from different places, but with common needs or 
interests? 
 
Section (1) questions: 
 

• What Needs, Issues, Problems, Gaps, etc., has your Project addressed? 

Page 59



2 

 

• Were all the beneficiaries resident in Hinckley & Bosworth Borough and were they from any 
particular community? 

Section (2) guidance:      
This section is about what the VCS funding actually provided for your Project and were you able 
to add other funding, resources or support from elsewhere? 
 
Section (2) questions: 
 

• What did the funding provide for your project? 

• Was there additional support or funding from your parent agency, partners or other funding 
sources? – if so what were these? 

 
Section (3) guidance: 
How did you turn the funding and other support into what the Project actually provided for 
beneficiaries? What activities, services, provision, support, etc., resulted? 
The second question asks you to identify if volunteers were involved and how they participated to 
make things happen for the Project and the beneficiaries. 

 
Section (3) questions: 
 

• What did your Project actually do? 

• How did volunteers contribute to the work of your Project? 
 
 
Section (4) guidance: 
This is the most important Section in evaluating a Project – did it work and achieve success?  
Were the beneficiaries those you wanted to reach and work with, and how did they benefit from 
the Project?  
Did the successes and achievements of the beneficiaries reach beyond them and how did these 
impact, e.g., on families, neighbours, friends, the community?  
Has your Project got a future – opportunity to continue; to grow; to develop; to survive; to be in 
demand; to be taken over by beneficiaries, etc? 
What have you and those around you learnt from the Project experience – are there changes, 
improvements, developments, etc., that are being put in place or that you want to put in place? 
 
Section (4) questions: 
 

•  Did you reach, connect with and involve the people you wanted to? 

• What did the beneficiaries achieve and gain from their experience of your Project? 

• Did your Project have impact to the wider community? 

• When this funding ends, will your project be able to continue? 

• What has been the learning from your Project, for you/your agency?   
 
                Section (5) guidance:  
                

Page 60



3 

 

The following five questions focus on how the finances, funding and finance management 
worked out for your project. 

                     In addition, please provide Project expenditure figures, showing how the VCS funding  
  was spent for example as a simple Balance Sheet with attached receipts/invoice copies.   

  
Section (5) questions: 

 

• Was your Project expenditure as planned in your Application for the VCS funding?  

• If not, what were changes or variations in your expenditure? 

• Do you have any unspent 2013/14VCS funding? If so, what do you hope to do with this? 

• Was your project able to generate other income? If so, how has this income supported the 
Project or its ongoing sustainability? 

• Are you likely to seek further Funding for the continuation of this Project?   
 

 
Section (6) guidance: 
The following four questions are about the amount of hours directly connected to your project and 
the number of people who directly contributed to your project.  
 

 
             Section (6) questions:  
 

• How many hours were direct delivery by your Project? 

• How many hours were spent on developing, planning your Project? 

• How many paid Workers/Staff worked with your Project? 

• How many Volunteers worked with your Project? 
 

Section (7) guidance: 
This information enables us to capture the number of people directly benefitting from the grant 
awarded. 
*You may expand on this information if you wish.   

 
Section (7) question: 

• How many people directly benefited from your project?  Total numbers: 
  

Section (8) guidance: 
This section enables us to capture information about how funded projects perform in relation to the 
VCS Forum Core Value Set (as listed below)  
 
Section(8)  
Please circle where applicable a figure to score how you think your Project performed in relation to 
each of the following: 
(Score performance in the range: 1 = Excellent to 4 = Poor)  
 

Responding to the needs of the community 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Page 61



4 

 

Ensuring ease of access and inclusion 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Challenging discrimination  
 

  1        2        3        4 

Creating opportunities for active participation 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Encouraging volunteering 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Collaborating with partners 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Communicating effectively 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Learning from the experience 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Continuously improving performance 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Developing volunteers 
 

  1        2        3        4        

    

Managing resources responsibly 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Delivering outcomes 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Empowering individuals and communities 
 

  1        2        3        4        

Building in sustainability 
  

  1        2        3        4        

 

IN ADDITION to the Evaluation Report you are invited to provide 
supplementary evidence, which will help us all to understand what your 
project achieved, e.g., case studies; promotional leaflets; photos; video; 
beneficiary comments; witness statements; media reports, etc.  
 
If you require any assistance with this form please contact: 
 
Shani Smith – Next Generation Community Connect  
shani@nxt-gen.org.uk 
 
Will Hare – Burbage Youth Project 
byp@nxt-gen.org.uk 
 
Sian Mitchell – Community Action Hinckley & Bosworth 
Sian.mitchell@btconnect.com 

Page 62



5 

 

 
 Dave Roberts – Westfield Community Centre 
Dave.roberts@westfieldcc.org.uk 
 

Please return Evaluation Documents to:  
 
vcsinfo@nxt-gen.org.uk 
 
Alternatively hard copies to:   
Voluntary & Community Sector (VCS) Forum/Commissioning Board, C/O 
Next Generation Community Connect, 108 Castle Street, Hinckley, 
Leicestershire, LE10 1DD. 
 
 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



            Appendix 3 
Evaluation Report – Commissioned VCS Projects 2013/14 

 
 

The Project 
Needs/gaps addressed 

Delivery/outcomes No. of hours of 
direct delivery 

No. of 
beneficiaries 

Sustainability 

BYP Classic Car Restoration - 
£2,667 - the only project of this 
kind offered for free in 
Leicestershire, offering full 
hands on experience at a 
practical level. 
There is a need for young 
people to have access to a 
project of this kind to enable 
access to further  
training , work experience 
leading to potential 
apprenticeships and 
employment within the 
engineering disciplines. 

It enabled young people to benefit 
from hands on practical experience 
of the workshop environment 
and enhance their opportunities of 
entering apprenticeships, work 
experiences and further education 
The young people gained skills 
and confidence and their self 
esteem and aspirations were 
raised 
The project also gave the chance 
for intergenerational interaction 
between the young people and the 
instructors and volunteers, due to 
the nature of the Classic Car 
theme 

80 14 The overall plan for the 
project is to be able to 
renovate classic 
vehicles, sell them and 
put money back into the 
project.  This is in its 
early stages. 

Fitness For Young People - 
£800 - is often ignored, with 
society having an expectation 
that YP should be naturally ‘fit’, 
however, obesity in YP 
continues to rise. 
The project aims to highlight and 

The project has delivered fun and 
exciting fitness programmes for YP 
whereby they can 
achieve a higher level of fitness 
and an awareness of the 
importance that brings with it, 
including healthy eating awareness 

21 hours 

instruction 

18 Other funding options 
are being sought to 
enable the programme 
to continue. 
The YP who took part 
enjoyed the fitness 
routines and are 

P
age 65



address the need for YP to 
understand the importance of 
fitness, and target those not able 
to access facilities such as 
expensive fitness equipment 
and gym membership 
 

The project has also resulted in a 
tremendous amount of social 
benefits, with YP socially 
interacting and becoming friends 
as a result.   
It has also significantly built 
confidence, and resulted in 
improved performance and 
engagement in team and individual 
events YP participate in at 
School and Community Clubs 

committed to continuing 
this beyond the project 
end date 

Living with Teenagers – 
Parents Workshops - £2,812 
Responding to evidence that 
many young people are not 
succeeding because of 
emotional and behavioural 
difficulties, in turn leading to 
negative choices and lifetime 
struggles. The 7 week course 
takes the parents on a journey 
to become more reflective of 
their teenage behaviour rather 
than reactive. 
 
 

The outcomes from the course 
have included: 
Empowered parents to support 
their teenagers with positive 
strategies 
Rebuilt relationships between 
teenagers and parents 
Increased aspirations and 
encouraged young people to make 
positive choices 
Increased the wellbeing of the 
whole family by significantly 
reducing tension and conflict  

45 57 Y U Matter will continue 
to fundraise to sustain 
the project and the 
many contacts gained 
via this programme to 
continue to support the 
parents and the young 
people they work with. 

Hinckley Stroke Club - £2,000 
The purpose of the organisation 
is to support the social and care 

Provision of a weekly club offering 
support, advice, social activities, 
befriending opportunities, and 

140 105 Westfield CDA provided 
the Club with subsidised 
transport and food.  

P
age 66



needs of stroke sufferers. 
Contributing towards their well 
being and ongoing rehabilitation 
whilst providing respite care one 
day per week for family carers. 
Befriending opportunities – 
allowing service users, families 
and carers to develop mutual 
support network. 
 

lunch, providing respite care for 
stroke sufferers and their families. 
Access to wheelchair accessible 
transport to enable more users to 
utilise the weekly club offer 
Opportunities for volunteers and 
students to work with and 
understand the challenges faced 
by this sector of the community 
 

Regular fundraising 
activities are 
undertaken. 
Recruitment of more 
volunteers is a key 
priority, and provision of 
this funding stream has 
met run costs freeing up 
time to dedicate to 
recruitment rather than 
fundraising. 
They have learnt that 
working with partners 
and the broader 
community is a better 
way of providing 
services  

Access to Lunch, Leisure and 
Learning - £2,290 
The project has addressed the 
need for further social activities 
and friendship for elderly 
residents increasing their 
wellbeing by reducing isolation. 
The project also addressed 
the need for transportation/ 
accessible transport 
due to frailty and disability  
 

Enabled the provision of further  
social activities:     
Subsidised 4 half day trips using the 
community 16 seater mini bus. 
Subsidised the use of the MPV 7 
seater vehicle to transport clients 
weekly to St Francis Centre. 
Weekly club with activities and  
pamper treatments along with  2 tea 
dances. 
Supported advertising of the  
community transport scheme and 
recruitment of volunteer drive. 

100 67 The funding has made it 
possible to kick start a 
number of activities that 
are now self sustaining, 
with all activities 
currently continuing.  
Has provided an 
impetus to seek further 
funding which will be 
required to help 
subsidise the mini bus 
and the MPV.  

P
age 67



Community House Family 
Trips - £1,193 
The Project has enabled 
disadvantaged families access 
activities and visit places that 
they may not otherwise have 
been able to experience for 
financial reasons, lack of 
transport, etc. 
It addressed social inclusion 
bringing people together to 
develop strong social networks.  
Most beneficiaries from the 
priority neighbourhoods of 
Wykin, Barwell and Earl Shilton 

The project provided social activities
for families living within this priority 
neighbourhoods area 
Worked with the community to 
identify places of interest to visit,  
and enabled: 
3 coaches and entrance tickets to  
Twin Lakes for 130 people with  
short fall sourced from other  
funding. 
  

Unable to 
estimate exactly 
but input 
included a 
support worker 
booking venue, 
liaising with 
coach co. 
collecting 
subsidised 
payments, and 
support of 6 
volunteers 

130 Demand for trips 
continues to be high 
with future trips planned 
but subject to funding 
being secured.  The aim 
is for community 
volunteers to take on 
the planning, delivery 
and evaluation of the 
project s supported by 
workers 

St Mary’s Church Lads and 
Girls Brigade - £2,142 
An established Brigade Band 
which enables positive 
experiences through music, 
develops skills, confidence/self 
esteem and well being of young 
people who may be financially 
excluded from such activities  

Provision of uniforms, instruments,  
music software and travel facilities. 
Enabling the band to take part at  
Hinckley Carnival, Burbage Carnival,
Burbage Arts Festival, Regimental 
Parade, National Band competition.  
Young people developed musical  
abilities whilst increasing their self  
worth and confidence to participate. 

30 28 The funding has helped 
us to grow as an 
organisation and given 
impetus and confidence 
to source further funding  

Markfield Mayflower Project – 
Support for the elderly - 
£2,800 
Provision of co-ordinated 
support for vulnerable people 

Establishment of the Mayflower  
Social Club and the development of 
a programme of social activities,  
and information sessions on priority 
matters – 15 sessions delivered to 

30 to date with a 
further 32 hours 
planned to end 
of July 2014 

38 to date An intention to make the 
social club a permanent 
Association led project 
and currently looking at 
other funding 

P
age 68



over the age of 50 and their 
carers, to enable improved 
health, happiness and wellbeing. 
To support individuals in 
identifying needs, and sign 
posting to and supporting 
individuals to access provision 
available 
Provision of social activities to 
enhance wellbeing, and 
information sessions on priority 
matters 

date (25 sessions planned in total) 
Including a weekly armchair fitness 
session 
Room hire 
A trained first aider 
Promotion and marketing materials 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

opportunities to continue 
the project. 
Due to savings made in 
utilising volunteers the 
programme can 
continue until March 
2015 
Members have 
expressed an interest to 
do their own fund raising 
to keep the project 
going 

Reminiscent Times - £2,710 
Provision of a range of 
resources including a memory 
lane shop with old fashioned 
products and currency. 
To engage those suffering with 
dementia/alzheimers with 
activities using visual sound 
reminiscent resources to 
stimulate conversation and 
memory 

The project has enabled Dementia 
sufferers to increase wellbeing in  
relation to a number of factors  
including: 
Increased mental stimulation 
Raised confidence to communicate 
Improved feeling of self esteem 
Enabled better sleep patterns 
Increased social interaction and  
reduced isolation 
Increased interest/recognition of 
past hobbies 
Supported friends and 
family and the wider community to 
gain a greater understanding of the 
needs of sufferers and carers 

120 175 This service is now 
being offered 
commercially and hoped 
that the service will 
become self funded 

P
age 69



Wykin Young Parents Group -
£528 
The Wykin Estate and 
surrounding area experiences 
high deprivation in relation to 
income, health, education, skills 
training and employment.  
Access to some of the services 
available to address these 
needs are unsuitable or difficult 
for this client groups 
This project aims to engage with 
young parents to develop new 
skills in a supportive and fun 
environment whilst offering 
childcare provision 

Young parents received lifeskills in 
nutrition and basic healthy meal 
preparation 
Delivery of a food hygiene course 
and revision materials 
Back to basics cookery course 
Level 1 and Level 3 qualifications  
achieved  
2 creche workers 
p/t funded a 6 week instructor led  
swimming sessions at Hinckley 
Leisure Centre 
Young parents gained confidence in 
Recognising their skills and abilities, 
leading to improved self esteem 
 

23 19 The project will continue 
consultation is taking 
place with the group to 
agree on priorities.  
Additional funding may 
be required. 
Some of the now 
qualified parents 
volunteer at the 
Community House, Sure 
Start Centre and Youth 
Services and are able to 
offer support in 
preparing, cooking and 
serving food at 
community events 

 

P
age 70


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Centenary Field Dedication - Queens Park
	Centenary Field dedication appendix 1

	7 Environmental Health Commercial Services Enforcement Service Delivery Plan 2014/15
	EHServicePlanappendix

	8 Hinckley & Bosworth Voluntary & Community Sector arrangements
	VCSAppendix 1
	VCS Appendix 2
	VCSAppendix 3


